
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Environment and Community Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date:  Thursday, 1 October 2020 

Time:  5.00 pm 

Venue:  This a virtual meeting and therefore there is no physical location for 
this meeting. 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies for Absence  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes (Pages 3 - 14) 

4    Public Questions  

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment 
and City Centre 

5    Principles for a New Climate Change Strategy 2021-
2026 and Annual Climate Change Strategy Update 
Report (Pages 15 - 54) 

6    General and Sunday Market Trader Covid Impact 
Business Support Offer (Pages 55 - 60) 

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Communities 

7    S106 Community Facility Grants 2020 (Pages 61 - 76) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee Members: Smart 
(Chair), Davies (Vice-Chair), Barnett, Collis, Hadley, Matthews, Payne and 
Summerbell 

Alternates: Gehring, McGerty, O'Reilly and Sheil 

Executive Councillors: Massey (Executive Councillor for Transport and 
Community Safety), Moore (Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre) and Smith (Executive Councillor for 
Communities) 

 

Information for the public 

Details how to observe the Committee meeting will be published no later than 
24 hours before the meeting. 

 
Members of the public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting, 
except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items, by following 
the link to be published on the Council’s website.   
 

Any person who participates in the meeting in accordance with the Council’s 
public speaking time, is deemed to have consented to being recorded and to 
the use of those images (where participating via video conference) and/or 
sound recordings for  webcast purposes.  When speaking, members of the 
public should not disclose any personal information of any individual as this 
might infringe the rights of that individual and breach the Data Protection Act. 
  
If members of the public wish to address the committee please contact 
Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. 
 

For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/1
 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

1 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2 July 2020 
 5.00  - 7.15 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Smart (Chair), Davies (Vice-Chair), Barnett, Collis, 
Hadley, Matthews, McGerty and Payne 
 
Executive Councillors: Massey (Executive Councillor for Transport and 
Community Safety), Moore (Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre) and Smith (Executive Councillor for 
Communities) 
 
 
Officers:  
Strategic Director: Suzanne Hemingway 
Head of Commercial Services: James Elms 
Head of Shared Waste Service: Trevor Nicoll 
Community Engagement and Enforcement Manager: Wendy Johnston 
Strategy and Partnerships Manager: David Kidston 
Equality & Anti-Poverty Officer: Helen Crowther 
Committee Manager: James Goddard 
 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

20/10/EnC Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Summerbell. Councillor McGerty was 
present as the alternate. 

20/11/EnC Declarations of Interest 
 

Name Item Interest 

Councillor Payne 20/22/EnC Personal: Liberal Democrat Group 

nominee for Community Forum 

Chair. 

Councillor Smith 20/22/EnC Personal: Labour Group nominee for 

Community Forum Chair. 

20/12/EnC Minutes 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/2 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

2 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 January and 28 May 2020 were 
approved as a correct record. 

20/13/EnC Public Questions 
 
There were no public questions. 

To Note Record of Urgent Decisions by the Strategic Director 

20/14a Action to Support Market Traders 
The decision was noted. 

20/14b Action to Support Street Traders 
The decision was noted. 

20/14c Grant to Cambridge Community Foundation Coronavirus Fund 
The decision was noted. 
 
Councillor Payne asked what would happen to unspent funding. The Strategic 
Director said the situation was being reviewed and options would be 
considered. 

20/14d Grant to Support Visit Cambridge and Beyond Whilst it Develops a 
Business Plan 
The decision was noted. 

20/14e Addition Financial Support to GLL During Covid Suspension of 
Facilities 
The decision was noted. 

To Note Record of Urgent Decision by the Head of Environmental 
Services 

20/15a Actions to Support the Market During the Covid-19 Outbreak 
The decision was noted. 

Re-Ordering Agenda 
 
Under paragraph 4.2.1 of the Council Procedure Rules, the Chair used his 
discretion to alter the order of the agenda items. However, for ease of the 
reader, these minutes will follow the order of the published agenda. 

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Transport and Community 
Safety 

Page 4



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/3 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

3 

20/16/EnC Review of Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog Control 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Officer’s report: 

i. Referenced the statutory consultation exercise conducted by the Council 
during March and April 2020 in relation to the proposal to extend and 
vary the Public Spaces Protection Order (‘PSPO’) for Dog Control 2017 
in respect of dog control (including dog fouling, dog exclusion and dogs 
on leads requirements) within Cambridge.  

ii. Referenced responses to consultation and main substantive issues 
raised 

iii. Set out recommendations for the Executive Councillor. 
 
The Council had given careful consideration to the responses to the 
consultation exercise.  The PSPO, as varied and extended, was not put 
forward as a means of unduly restricting the exercising or recreation of dogs 
across the city. The reason for the PSPO was to address the detrimental effect 
on the quality of life of those in the locality caused by the irresponsible 
behaviour of a small minority of dog owners; and to set out a clear standard of 
behaviour to which all dog owners were required to adhere.  
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Transport and Community Safety 

i. Approved the PSPO, as set out in Appendix A of the Officer’s report. 

 Approved the area of the PSPO, as indicated in the maps at Appendix B 
of the Officer’s report. 

 Delegated to officers the authority to install, update and/or remove 
signage appropriate to any PSPO that may be agreed. 

 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee received a report from the Community Engagement and 
Enforcement Manager. She updated paragraph 3.33 of the report as follows: 
 

Following the fairly equal response regarding removal of previous 
restrictions at the play areas set out in 3.31, officers recommend that the 
areas detailed should not have the existing restrictions removed and the 

Page 5



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/4 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

4 

areas continue to be locations in which dogs are required to be on leads 
at all times. 

 
The Community Engagement and Enforcement Manager said the following in 
response to Members’ questions: 

i. As part of the consultation process signs had been put up in parks and 
open spaces advising of a consultation to variation an extension to the 
2017 PSPO. 

ii. A consultation exercise had also undertaken so that local residents could 
feedback on the proposals. 267 had done so, which was comparable to 
the 330 responses in last consultation of 2017. 

iii. Officers had tried to contact people who walked dogs commercially 
[usually individuals rather than companies] about the proposals and to 
seek their views. .  

iv. The Wildlife Trust had also previously been approached.  
v. The PSPO recommendation regarding Byrons Pool and the restriction of 

the number of dogs followed national guidance that: 
a. One person should be limited to having a maximum of four dogs on 

leads at any one time in order to be able to control them. 
b. Walkers should tidy up after their dogs. 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment 
and City Centre 

20/17/EnC Decarbonising Cambridge City Council Vehicle Fleet 
 
Matter for Decision 
Cambridge City Council declared a climate emergency in February 2019. The 
Council is keen to reduce its own emissions as close to zero as possible, as 
soon as is feasible; within the resourcing, technological and service obligation 
constraints it works within. The Council’s vehicle fleet of 113 vehicles currently 
accounts for 24% of all the council’s emissions. We have been incrementally 
moving our fleet from internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles to ultra-low 
emission vehicles (ULEV) over recent years and currently there are 10 electric 

Page 6



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/5 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

5 

vans.  Of the remainder 41 of the diesel/petrol fleet are Ultra Low Emission 
Zone compliant and 10 have stop/start technology. The climate emergency 
creates an imperative to accelerate that transition, and this paper sets out a 
road map to achieve that. 

 
The Decarbonising Cambridge City Council Vehicle Fleet paper appended to 
the Officer’s report set out the approach to decarbonising Cambridge City 
Council’s vehicle fleet, seeking to commit to replace old vehicles with ULEVs 
whenever possible. 
 
A key enabler for the transition to ULEVs is the provision of suitable solution 
infrastructure primarily based at the depot location.     
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment and 
City Centre 
Agreed to: 

i. Acknowledge the opportunities and detriments when converting to 
ULEVs as set out in the appended Decarbonising Cambridge City 
Council Vehicle Fleet paper. 

ii. Endorse the recommended approach notably: 
o The key area for action is a formal commitment to always, where 

there is a suitable ULEV alternative and the infrastructure allows, 
to procure ULEVs when replacing Council vehicles. 

o Where there is no ULEV alternative possible then this is only to be 
procured after a detailed business case has been written. 

o That services will actively monitor the usage of their vehicle assets 
and, through service reviews, seek to streamline the way work is 
carried out, with the twin aims of cutting carbon emissions and 
increasing service efficiency via a decrease in the miles driven, 
and over time, a decrease in the total number of vehicles required. 
 

Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee received a report from the Head of Commercial Services. 
 
The Head of Commercial Services said the following in response to Members’ 
questions: 

Page 7



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/6 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

6 

i. There were no plans to purchase ULEVs in 2021-22, unless they were 
needed to replace existing ICE vehicles as a matter of urgency eg they 
were unsafe or there was a justifable business case to support any new 
purchase. 

ii. In order to manage the impact on the public purse, ICE vehicles would 
be replaced with ULEVs and electric vehicles, plus supporting 
infrastructure such as charging points, in incremental stages rather than 
through wholesale change [ie all vehicles at once]. The procurement of 
electric vehicle infrastructure was complex.  

iii. Vehicles would be replaced as and when needed at the end of their 
working life cycle. By replacing vehicles at the end of their life cycle, their 
full capital value could be realised. If the council replaced ICE vehicles 
with ULEVs mid-life cycle, the full financial and environmental cost 
savings may not be realised, so the council may in fact not realise its aim 
of saving money and carbon emissions by changing vehicles too early. 

iv. At the time of writing, the Office for Low Emission Vehicles provided a 
discount on the price of brand new low-emission vehicles through a grant 
the government gives to vehicle dealerships and manufacturers. The 
Council’s Scientific Officer could provide further information on this upon 
request. 

v. Electric vehicles had not been in service for 12 years, so it was hard to 
compare them with the 6 years service life span expected from ICE 
vehicles. However, 12 years seemed probable. 

vi. There were fewer moving parts in electric vehicles compared to ICE 
ones, so they should have a longer working life span.  

vii. There were no ULEV vehicle alternatives to a limited number of ICE 
vehicles such as cherry pickers. Where there is no ULEV alternative 
possible, then an ICE vehicle would be procured after a detailed 
business case has been written [to evidence that an alternative was not 
available]. 

 
Councillor Matthews proposed a new [additional] recommendation 2.3:  
 

Sign up to Global Action Plan's "Clean Van Commitment", which publicly 
pledges the Council to move to a zero emission fleet by 2028. 

 
https://www.globalactionplan.org.uk/clean-air/clean-van-commitment 

 

The Executive Councillor said she was happy with existing recommendation 
wording and actions taken by the council to decarbonise the city. There 

Page 8

https://www.globalactionplan.org.uk/clean-air/clean-van-commitment


Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/7 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

7 

seemed no point in replacing serviceable ICE vehicles with ULEVs until they 
were at the end of their life cycle. 

 

Councillor Matthews withdrew his proposal after a discussion by committee 
where the Executive Councillor welcomed the idea to work with Councillor 
Matthews and officers in future on ways to decarbonise the city. She would 
look at details then consider what to sign up to in future. 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

20/18/EnC Greater Cambridge Waste Service - Annual Report 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Officer’s report summarised the performance of the Greater Cambridge 
Shared Waste Service during 2019/20. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment and 
City Centre 
Noted the content of the report. 
 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee received a report from the Head of Shared Waste Service. 
 
The Head of Shared Waste Service said the following in response to Members’ 
questions: 

i. Recycling rates were still around 50% as organic waste was mixed in 
with other waste, so it was hard to increase the recycling rate when non-
recyclable items were mixed in. 

ii. Measures were put in place to mitigate this: 

Page 9



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/8 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

8 

a. Education schemes and food waste schemes were in place to 
encourage people not to put certain items in black bins. 

b. Extra blue bins were offered to residents to encourage them not to 
put items in black bins when the first blue bin was full. 

c. Encouraging people to think before they bought [food] items to 
avoid buying too much and then throwing it away. 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendation. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendation. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

20/19/EnC To Note Record of Urgent Decision Taken by the Executive 
Councillor for Climate Change, Environment and City Centre 

20/19a Shared Waste Service Business  Plan 2020/21 
The decision was noted. 

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Communities 

20/20/EnC Anti-Poverty Strategy 2020-2023 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Council has produced two previous Anti-Poverty Strategies covering the 
periods from 2014-2017 and 2017-2020. The Officer’s report provided an 
update on delivery of key actions included in the 2017-2020 Strategy. 
 
The Officer’s report also presented a revised Anti-Poverty Strategy for the 
2020-2023 period for approval.  
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Communities 
Approved the revised Anti-Poverty Strategy for 2020-2023 and the 
accompanying action plan 
 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 

Page 10



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/9 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

9 

 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee received a report from the Strategy and Partnerships Manager. 
 
The Strategy and Partnerships Manager said the following in response to 
Members’ questions: 

i. 74 employers had been accredited as paying a living wage out of 4,400 
across the city. Residents were also being paid a living wage by some 
employers who did not have the accreditation. 

ii. Larger employers had been approached first. Small and medium 
employers were next. 

iii. In order to be accredited, companies would have to sign up to paying a 
living wage to employees and contractors. 

iv. A lot of dedicated work had been put into the Living Wage Campaign. A 
lot of 1-2-1 work and networking at business conferences was required 
with employers to convince them of the need. More work was required 
but the living wage featured prominently in the Anti-Poverty Strategy. 

v. More people were attending food banks. The City Council was part of the 
food poverty alliance. This funded work through grants to city residents. 
Work was ongoing during the corona virus pandemic. 

vi. There was a bid in the council’s Budget Setting Report for a project to 
establish a food hub in the city with voluntary groups. 

vii. It was hard to quantify the impact of Universal Credit on residents. 
Stakeholders had raised issues with officers about being responsible for 
managing their own personal budgets; this was difficult if one was not 
experienced. Officers could offer support to try and avoid people 
experiencing financial difficulties and rent arears. 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendation. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendation. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

20/21/EnC Single Equality Scheme 2018 - 2021 Annual Review Year Two 
 
Matter for Decision 
The current Single Equality Scheme (SES) covers the period from 2018 to 
2021. The council produces an SES in order to set out its strategic approach to 
equalities issues. The SES included a number of equalities objectives for the 

Page 11



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/10 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

10 

Council, which was a key requirement of the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010). 
 
This annual report presented information to demonstrate compliance with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty by providing an update on progress in delivering 
key actions set in SES for 2019/20. It also proposed some new actions for 
delivery during 2020/21 under the Scheme’s objectives. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Communities 

i. Noted the progress in delivering equalities actions during 2019/20 set out 
in the Officer’s report. 

ii. Approved actions proposed in Appendix 1 of the Officer’s report for 
delivery during 2020/21. 

 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee received a report from the Equality & Anti-Poverty Officer. 
 
The Equality & Anti-Poverty Officer said the following in response to Members’ 
questions: 

i. The council sets targets for and monitors the proportion of BAME and 
disabled people as a percentage of the workforce each year and 
produces the Equality in Employment report that is taken to the 
Equalities Panel.  

ii. The council is an accredited Disability Confident Employer. 
iii. The feasibility of offering unconscious bias training to managers was 

being looked into in relation to recruitment. It may be possible to offer 
similar training to councillors if there was demand. 

iv. Officers were trying to make the recruitment process simpler to help 
encourage equality of opportunity for all by the making application 
process more accessible and less prescriptive. 

v. Officers were reviewing why the number of successful BAME applicants 
for jobs did not reflect the percentage of BAME people who applied. The 
results of this would be reported back to the Equalities Panel in January 
2021. 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 

Page 12



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/11 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

11 

 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

20/22/EnC Appointment to Community Forums 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Executive Councillor was asked to appoint to two outside bodies. 
 
North and North West Quadrant Community Forum 
At the time of the Annual Meeting of committees when such appointments 
were usually made, there was a divergence of views on which Member should 
be appointed between the Groups on the Council with the minority group 
stating it should be a local councillor. 
 
Environment Scrutiny Committee were asked to nominate a candidate as the 
matter could not be discussed at May 2020 Annual Council. 
 
East Community Forum 
This appointment was not included on the annual list of appointments. The 
Executive Councillor was asked to appoint a city councillor to it. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Communities 
Approved appoints to two outside bodies: 

i. North and North West Quadrant Community Forum: Councillor 
Thornburrow 

ii. East Community Forum: Councillor Smith 
 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out on the agenda. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee received a verbal report from the Executive Councillor. She 
suggested rolling over Chairs from the previous municipal year for continuity, 
and that councillors should hold the positions of Chair. 
 

Page 13



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/12 Thursday, 2 July 2020 

 

 
 
 

12 

The committee agreed and discussed the merits of candidates that were 
considered to be both experienced and hold an equal democratic mandate. 

  

The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendation of 
Councillor Smith to the East Community Forum. 
 
Labour Councillors proposed the nomination of Councillor Thornburrow as the 
North and North West Quadrant Community Forum appointee. 
 
Liberal Democrat Councillors proposed the nomination of Councillor Payne as 
the North and North West Quadrant Community Forum appointee. 
 
The Committee resolved by 5 votes to 3 that Councillor Thornburrow be the 
North and North West Quadrant Community Forum appointee. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

20/23/EnC To Note Record of Urgent Decision Taken by the Executive 
Councillor for Communities 

20/23a King's Hedges Family Support Group 
The decision was noted. 

 
The meeting ended at 7.15 pm 

 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 14



 Report page no. 1       Agenda page no. 

 

Item 
PRIORITIES FOR A NEW CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 2021-2026 AND 

ANNUAL CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY UPDATE REPORT 

 

Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Council has had three climate change strategies since 2008, the 

most of recent of which covers the period from April 2016-March 2021. 
The strategies set out the Council’s approach to: reducing its own 
carbon emissions; supporting residents, businesses and organisations 
in Cambridge to reduce their emissions; and helping the city adapt to 
the predicted changes in climate. 

 
1.2 This report provides an update on progress in delivering key actions in 

the Climate Change Strategy during 2019/20.  
 
1.3 It also sets out a framework for a revised Climate Change Strategy 

covering the period from 2021-2026, ahead of public consultation in 
autumn 2020.  It proposes a revised strategic approach that builds on 
what the Council has achieved to date but sets out new ambition for 

To:  
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee     01/10/2020 
 
Report by:  
David Kidston, Strategy and Partnerships Manager 
Tel: 01223 457143, Email: david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

Abbey, Arbury, Castle, Cherry Hinton, Coleridge, East Chesterton, King's 

Hedges, Market, Newnham, Petersfield, Queen Edith's, Romsey, 

Trumpington, West Chesterton 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 Report page no. 2       Agenda page no. 

 

 

working with residents, businesses and communities in the context of 
the Climate Emergency. 

2. Recommendations 
 
The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
 

 Approve the proposed framework for the revised Climate Change Strategy 

for 2021-2026 for public consultation 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The scientific evidence that the Earth’s climate is changing as a direct 

result of human activity is clear and incontrovertible. Average global 
temperatures reached 1 degree above pre-industrial (1850) levels for 
the first time in 2015. Temperatures have been rising most rapidly since 
the millennium, with the UN’s World Meteorological Office (WMO) 
identifying that 20 of the hottest years on record occurred during the 
past 22 years1. The Met Office has reported that the 10 hottest years in 
the UK since 1894 have all occurred since 20022.  

 
3.2 If the current rate of global heating continues, the effects for humanity 

and biodiversity will be catastrophic, and the window for taking action to 
limit these effects is reducing. At the twenty first session of the 
Conference of the Parties (COP21) to the United Nations Framework 
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC) in 2015 in Paris, national 
governments committed to limit global temperature increases to well 
below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, and to pursue 
efforts to limit increase to 1.5 degrees3. To achieve this, parties to the 
agreement agreed to reach net zero global emissions of greenhouse 
gases in the second half of this century.  

 
 3.3 With policies currently put in place by national governments, it is 

projected that temperatures will reach about 3.0 degrees Celsius above 
pre-industrial levels by 2100, while current unconditional pledges and 
targets by national governments would limit increases to about 2.8 
degrees4.  

 

                                      
1
 https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2019/02/06/last-four-years-have-hottest-record-un-says/  

2
 https://www.itv.com/news/2019-07-31/uks-10-hottest-years-on-record-have-occurred-since-2002-met-office   

3
 UNFCC, 2015, Paris Agreement, Article 2, p2 

4
  Baseline scenarios from IPCC AR5 Working Group III: https://climateactiontracker.org/global/temperatures/  

Page 16

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2019/02/06/last-four-years-have-hottest-record-un-says/
https://www.itv.com/news/2019-07-31/uks-10-hottest-years-on-record-have-occurred-since-2002-met-office
https://climateactiontracker.org/global/temperatures/


 Report page no. 3       Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.4 At a global level, projected global temperature increases over the next 
80 years would lead to mass species extinctions, food and water 
insecurity, further increases in extreme weather events, flooding of 
coastal cities as a result of sea levels rising, and health impacts such as 
increasing prevalence of malaria.  

 
3.5 The effects of climate change are already being felt in Cambridge. For 

example, Cambridge experiencing the highest temperature ever 
recorded in the UK of 38.7 degrees Celsius during the July 2019 
heatwave. The three most likely effects of climate change for 
Cambridge include5: increases in flood events; water shortages and 
droughts; and increased summer temperatures. The likely impacts of 
these changes include: decreases in human and non-human health and 
wellbeing, damage to built and green infrastructure, and increased 
demand and costs for public services.  

 
3.6 While climate change presents very significant challenges, there are a 

number of opportunities created by recent events: 
 

 Building on an increased public awareness and acceptance that 
climate change is occurring, and that change is needed to reduce 
carbon emissions. For example, a survey in October 2019 found that 
almost two-thirds of people agreed that the climate emergency was 
the biggest issue facing humankind, with only 7% disagreeing6. The 
twenty-sixth session of the Conference of the Parties (COP26) to the 
United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC  
in Glasgow in 2021 is likely to further raise public awareness and 
influence national policy on climate change. 

 Building on increased public awareness of the effects of climate 
change and the need to adapt to them. For example, in the context 
of both the climate emergency and Covid-19 the health and 
wellbeing benefits of trees, green space and other green 
infrastructure received high levels of public interest and support. 

 Sustaining the low-carbon impacts of changes in behaviour during 
the Covid-19 lockdown. As the recovery from Covid-19 begins, there 
is potentially an opportunity to build on and sustain impacts such as 
reduced emissions from transport, increased home working in some 

                                      
5
 Climate UK, A Summary of Climate Change Risks for East England: to coincide with the publication of the 

UK Climate Change Risk 
Assessment (CCRA), 2012 
6
 Guardian, 2019, ‘Climate Crisis affects how majority will vote in UK election – poll’ 

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/30/climate-crisis-affects-how-majority-will-vote-in-uk-
election-poll 

Page 17

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/30/climate-crisis-affects-how-majority-will-vote-in-uk-election-poll
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/30/climate-crisis-affects-how-majority-will-vote-in-uk-election-poll


 Report page no. 4       Agenda page no. 

 

 

sectors of the economy, and the public health benefits of reduced air 
pollution.  

 Building a green recovery from the impacts of Covid-19 and 
furthering the transition to a low carbon economy. Cambridge is 
potentially well placed to play a role in this transition, given the 
presence of Cleantech businesses and University research expertise 
and capacity in the city.  

 

4. Action to reduce emissions from the Council’s estate and 
operations (Carbon Management Plan) in 2019/20 

 
4.1 In March 2016, we set a target to reduce the Council’s own emissions 

by 15-20% between 2014/15 and 2020/21 in the Carbon Management 
Plan 2016-2021. As shown by the chart below, the Council’s 
greenhouse gas emissions reduced by 25.2% from 2014/15 to 2018/19. 
Total gross emissions reduced by 2,030 tCO2e in this period, from 
8,041 tCO2e in 2014/15 to 6,011 tCO2e in 2018/19.  

 
Chart 1. Cambridge City Council Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tCO2e) 
 

  
 
4.2 We are currently still collating the Council’s Greenhouse Gas data for 

2019/20. Data collection was delayed by a combination of restricted 
access to Council buildings and sites during lockdown to obtain visual 
meter readings and a delay by our energy providers in providing data 
from Automatic Meter Readers (AMRs). We will publish the GHG data 
in due course, once it has been reviewed for accuracy by the Council’s 
internal audit service. 

 

8,041 
7,584 

7,234 
6,564 

6,011 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Page 18



 Report page no. 5       Agenda page no. 

 

 

4.3 The reduction in the Council’s emissions from 2014/15 to 2018/19 was 
partly due to decarbonisation of the electricity supply at the national 
level in recent years. By 2019, 48.5% of electricity in the national grid 
was generated from zero carbon sources (wind, solar, hydro and 
nuclear)7, and this share is likely to increase further given planned 
investments in North Sea off-shore wind and the Government’s 
commitment to turn off all UK coal fired power stations by 2024. 

 
4.4 The reduction in the Council’s emissions is also partly due to steps that 

the Council has taken, including rationalising its office accommodation, 
investing in energy efficiency and renewable energy measures in its 
buildings, and reducing carbon emissions from its fleet vehicles.  

 
Chart 2  – Percentage of total City Council Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions 
from different assets 2018/19 
 

 
Source: Cambridge City Council, 2019, Greenhouse Gas report 
 
4.5 The Council has produced two previous Carbon Management Plans, 

covering the periods from 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. Through these 
plans, the Council has implemented 66 carbon reduction projects on its 

                                      
7
 https://news.sky.com/story/more-power-came-from-renewable-energy-than-fossil-fuels-in-uk-in-2019-

11898806 

27% 

24% 

12% 

11% 

8% 

4% 

4% 
4% 

3% 2% 1% 
Leisure Centres & Pools

Fleet (including refuse
vehicles)

Sheltered Housing Communal
Areas

Administration Buildings

Car Parks

Corn Exchange

Community Centres

Crematorium

Toilets, Pavilions and Garages

Temporary Housing

Business Travel

Page 19

https://news.sky.com/story/more-power-came-from-renewable-energy-than-fossil-fuels-in-uk-in-2019-11898806
https://news.sky.com/story/more-power-came-from-renewable-energy-than-fossil-fuels-in-uk-in-2019-11898806


 Report page no. 6       Agenda page no. 

 

 

own estate and fleet to date, including a range of different energy 
efficiency, fuel efficiency and renewable energy projects. These 
projects are listed by asset in the table in Appendix A. They have been 
funded through a total of over £1.4m in contributions from the Council’s 
dedicated Climate Change Fund since 2008/09, as well as investment 
from planned maintenance and service budgets.   

 
4.6 Through the Carbon Management Plan, we have targeted investment in 

carbon reduction projects in the areas of activity which contribute most 
to the Council’s emissions. As shown by the chart on the previous 
page, in 2018/19 the greatest proportion of emissions came from the 
Council’s 5 swimming pool and leisure facilities (27%), the council’s 
vehicle fleet (24%), sheltered housing communal areas (12%), offices 
and administrative buildings (11%), and car parks (8%).  

 
4.7 During 2019/20 the Council completed a number of carbon reduction 

projects, including:  
 

 Replacing more than 670 existing light fittings at the Guildhall with 
low energy LED light fittings and automation.  

 Replacing communal lighting at Rawlyn Court and Whitefriars 
sheltered housing schemes with LED lighting. 

 Replacing the Customer Service Centre lighting with LED lighting. 

 Installing a combined heat and power system (CHP) at the 
Guildhall. 

 Installing building automation measures, including a new Building 
Energy Management System (BEMS) at the Guildhall to increase 
the level of control over the heating systems.  

 Mechanical works at the Guildhall to improve the efficiency of the 
heating and hot water system, and insulation of pipework and 
valves in the plant rooms to reduce heat loss. 

 The Guildhall roof covering was replaced and additional insulation 
was installed.  

 16 new Euro 6 compliant fleet vehicles were scheduled to be 
purchased to replace older, less fuel-efficient vehicles, and 1 new 
electric van was due to be purchased. 

 
5.  Action to reduce emissions by residents, businesses and 

organisations in Cambridge (the Climate Change Strategy) in 
2019/20 

Page 20



 Report page no. 7       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
5.1 Climate change has been a key priority for the Council for more than a 

decade. The Council made a formal commitment to tackling climate 
change by signing the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change in 
September 2006, and reaffirmed this commitment by signing the LGA’s 
Climate Local commitment in 2012. In February 2019, the Council 
declared a climate emergency. 

  
5.2 The Council has produced three Climate Change Strategies to date, 

covering the periods from 2008-2012, 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. 
These strategies set out the Council’s strategic approach to reducing its 
own carbon footprint, and supporting residents, businesses and 
organisations in the city to reduce their emissions.  

 
5.3 As shown in Chart 3 below, the latest available national carbon dioxide 

emissions estimates, produced by the Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), show that total emissions in Cambridge 
have declined steadily over the last 13 years. Total emissions from 
Cambridge reduced by a third (33%), from 779.7 ktCO2 in 2005 to 
521.5 ktCO2 in 2018.  

 
Chart 3: Total Carbon Emissions in Cambridge 2005-2018 (ktCO2)  
   

 
 
5.4 It should be noted that, while the Council, residents and partners in the 

city have taken a range of action over this period, the reduction in 
emissions from Cambridge (and other cities) in more recent years has 
been driven primarily by reduced use of coal in electricity generation 

777.7 795.2 775.8 785.6 

712.4 
749.6 

691.8 

750.6 
727.6 

626.6 
599.0 

556.6 
529.8 521.5 

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Page 21



 Report page no. 8       Agenda page no. 

 

 

and the increased use of renewable energy generation at a national 
level noted above.  

 
Chart 4: Sources of Carbon Emissions in Cambridge in 2018 (ktCO2)  
  

 
 
5.5 The Council’s current Climate Change Strategy focusses on reducing 

carbon emissions from the key sources of emissions in the city. As 
shown by the chart below, the three main sources of emissions in 2018 
were energy consumption from industrial and commercial properties 
(including businesses and public sector bodies such as councils, health 
and education bodies) at 49%, domestic sources (primarily heating and 
powering homes) at 31%, and emissions from transport (20%).  

 
5.6 The current Climate Change Strategy for 2016-2021 sets out 55 

detailed actions. Reports on actions delivered in previous years can be 
viewed here: https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/climate-change-strategy. In 
2019/20, the Council has delivered or progressed the following key 
actions identified in the strategy. Detailed updates on these actions are 
provided in the table in Appendix B.  

 

 Developing the new Cambridge Climate Change Charter 

 Convening 2 meetings of the City Leaders Climate Change group 

 Promoting a discounted solar PV scheme for residents 

 Providing Sustainable City Grant funding for community projects 

on home energy and waste reduction, including: Cambridge 

Carbon Footprint’s Circular Cambridge events  and Open Eco 

Homes project, which engaged a total of 517 people in visits to 

sustainable homes and energy efficiency workshops; and 

Cambridge Sustainable Foods Summer Vegetable Festival, which 

Page 22

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/climate-change-strategy


 Report page no. 9       Agenda page no. 

 

 

was attended by a total of 3,365 people over 13 events. 

 Employing a Fuel and Water Poverty Officer to assist 214 low 
income residents in 21019/20 to reduce their energy and water 
costs and consumption. 

 Making energy efficiency improvements to existing Council 
homes, including external wall insulation to 50 properties and a 
review of loft insulation which led to top up insulation being 
ordered for 600 properties. 

 Building new Council homes to the high environmental 
sustainability standards set by the Council’s Sustainable Housing 
Design Guide. 

 Commissioning consultants to develop an Interim Sustainable 
Housing Design Guide to set environmental sustainability 
standards for the building of future Council homes. 

 Implementing the climate change and sustainable design and 
construction policies in the 2018 Local Plan in relation to new 
developments (domestic and non-domestic). 

 Developing the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and 
Construction Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to help 
implement the environmental sustainability policies in the 2018 
Local Plan. 

 Beginning the development of a new Greater Cambridge Local 
Plan. One of the ‘big themes’ in the Issues and Options 
consultation was climate change and contributing to achieving net 
zero carbon. 

 Commissioning consultants to produce a net zero carbon study as 
part of the Local Plan evidence base. 

 Completing 114 outstanding Energy Performance Certificates for 
City-Council owned commercial properties to inform an approach 
to meeting the national Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 
(MEES) regulations. 

 Installing new rapid electric charging points for taxis with 
Government and Council funding. 8 charge points have been 
installed to date and up to 21 rapid charge points will be installed 
in total through the project. 

 Taxi licensing regulations requiring all licensed taxis in Cambridge 
to be zero or ultra-low emission by 2028 have contributed to an 
increase in the number electric (zero emissions) taxis licensed in 

Page 23



 Report page no. 10       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Cambridge from 2 in 2017/18 to 35 currently. There are also 4 
plug in hybrid (ultra low emissions) and 62 hybrid (low emission) 
taxis licenced in the city. 

 Approving an Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy at 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee in October 
2019, which identifies how the Council and its partners can help 
to increase the number of electric charging points available to the 
public within the city. 

 Securing Government funding for a joint project with 
Cambridgeshire County Council to provide 30 electric cargo bikes 
for use by Council services, local businesses and residents  

 Continued to support for the Cambridge Sustainable Food 
Network to work towards the Sustainable Food Cities Network’s 
Silver Award for Cambridge.   

 Implementing a range of measures to reduce plastic usage at the 
Cambridge Folk Festival and the Big Weekend in the summer of 
2019. 

 Planting 500 trees, giving away 350 trees to residents as part of 
the ‘Free Trees for Babies’ scheme, and launching a new project 
to significantly increase the tree canopy in Cambridge 

 
 

6. Draft framework for a new Climate Change Strategy 2021-
2026 

 
 Approach and objectives 
 
6.1 The climate emergency requires action now to reduce global emissions. 

While carbon dioxide emissions from Cambridge have reduced 
significantly in recent years, we recognise they will need to reduce more 
rapidly in future years to help avert the worst impacts of climate change, 
and in the context of planned future growth of the city.   

 
6.2 It is important therefore that the Council’s new Climate Change Strategy 

shows ambition and leadership, whilst recognising its sphere of 
influence and the role that other organisations and individuals need to 
play. The Council itself is only directly responsible for 1.1% of carbon 
emissions in Cambridge, but it has varying degrees of influence over a 
larger proportion of emissions from the city. The diagram on the next 
page illustrates the levels of influence that the Council has over 
different factors that impact on climate change.  

Page 24



 Report page no. 11       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 

Page 25



 Report page no. 12       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 

Page 26



 Report page no. 13       Agenda page no. 

 

 

6.3 Given the varying degrees of influence highlighted above, the Council 
can provide community leadership on climate change mitigation and 
adaptation issues in a number of different ways. It will: 

 
1. take action to reduce carbon emissions and adapt to climate in the 

areas where it has most direct control or influence, including the 
Council’s estate, fleet and services, and in criteria for procurement 
and grant funding. 

2. make energy efficiency improvements to Council homes and 
commercial properties, which will help reduce carbon emissions by 
housing and commercial tenants; and build new council homes to 
ambitious environmental standards. 

3. take action through the services it delivers (including managing 
Council homes, planning, environmental health, and recycling and 
waste collection) 

4. use its policy and regulatory powers (including planning policy, 
licensing, building control, and environmental health regulations) to 
require particular standards to help reduce emissions and adapt to 
climate change, as far as national policy and guidance allows. 

5. collaboration with partners in the city including communities and 
businesses, including working towards citywide climate change and 
sustainability partnerships 

6. encourage and support businesses and residents to make choices 
and take actions to reduce their emissions and adapt to climate 
change.  

7. seek to influence policy and funding decisions by national 
Government, the CPCA and GCP, and local partners; and to 
encourage local partners and groups to join forces in making our 
case to Government and others.   

 
6.4 The Council’s current Climate Change Strategy (2021-2026) sets 5 

strategic objectives for its action to address climate change. These still 
seem to form the basis of actions the city council can take, within its 
spheres of influence.  But as part of the development of the new 
strategy, we will review whether these objectives are still appropriate, or 
whether there are other strategic areas of activity the strategy should 
encompass or give greater emphasis to. We will seek views from 
residents on these objectives as part of the public consultation.  

 
1. Reducing emissions from the City Council estate and operations 

Page 27



 Report page no. 14       Agenda page no. 

 

 

2. Reducing energy consumption and emissions from homes and 
businesses in Cambridge by promoting energy efficiency measures, 
sustainable construction, renewable energy sources, and behaviour 
change 

3. Reducing emissions from transport by promoting sustainable 
transport, reducing car travel and traffic congestion, and encouraging 
behaviour change 

4. Reducing consumption of resources, increasing recycling and 
reducing waste 

5. Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to 
the impacts of climate change 

 

Reducing carbon emissions from the Council’s estate and 
operations  

 
6.5 We will develop a new Carbon Management Plan for 2021-2026, which 

will set out how the Council will further reduce emissions from its estate, 
services and operations. As we develop the new plan, we will work with 
our energy performance contractor (currently Bouygues under the 
REFIT 3 programme) and Council services to identify a programme of 
further energy efficiency and renewable energy interventions. Potential 
projects that have been identified to date are listed in the Table at 
Appendix A. 

 
6.6 These projects will need to target the key assets identified at 4.6 above. 

For instance, during 2020/21, Bouygues are developing Investment 
Grade Proposals (IGP) for further renewable energy projects at 
Parkside Pools and Abbey Pool. Options being investigated include 
installing additional solar PV panels, ground source heat pumps and/or 
air source heat pumps. If technically and financially viable, these 
schemes could potentially eliminate gas usage and increase the supply 
of renewable electricity at the Council’s two largest swimming pools, 
which would significantly reduce the largest source of emissions in the 
Council’s estate. The Council will continue to explore the technical and 
financial viability of these schemes and seek to identify ways in which 
they could be brought forward.  

 
6.7 The decision to taken at Environment & Communities Scrutiny 

Committee in June 2020 to always procure Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicles (ULEVs) when replacing Council vehicles (where there is a 
suitable ULEV alternative and the infrastructure allows) will also 

Page 28



 Report page no. 15       Agenda page no. 

 

 

significantly reduce emissions from the Council’s fleet, which is 
currently the second largest source of our emissions. The Greater 
Cambridge Shared Waste Service has also purchased its first electric 
waste vehicle, and is exploring the potential for further vehicles, which 
could further reduce the Council’s vehicle fleet emissions. 

 
6.8 It should be noted that the Council has already invested in many of the 

simpler, more cost-effective solutions (e.g. LED lighting, solar PV) to 
reduce emissions from its buildings. The capital cost of the schemes to 
date listed in Appendix A were ‘paid back’ by the energy savings 
generated through the schemes, usually within a ten-year period.  

 
6.9 Work conducted by Bouygues to date suggests that increasingly, the 

schemes that the Council will need to invest in to reduce its emissions 
in future will have a much higher capital cost (potentially up to several 
million pounds per scheme for the larger and more complex schemes), 
and the net savings on energy costs will not always cover the capital 
costs of some of the works. Unless Government or other funding is 
forthcoming the Council will need to consider how or whether it can 
implement such schemes. 

 

 Reducing city-wide carbon emissions from Cambridge 
 
6.10 The revised Climate Change Strategy will identify actions for 2021-2026 

to help further carbon emissions from Cambridge. These will include a 
combination of: 

 
6.11 We have identified a number of key actions for the new strategy which 

will help reduce emissions from businesses and organisations, homes, 
and transport. They include:  

 
 Working with Cambridge Carbon Footprint to build on the launch of 

the new Cambridge Climate Change Charter. 

 Investing £2.5 million in energy efficiency improvements to Council 

homes with poor energy efficiency ratings (predominantly Energy 

Performance Certificate D to G rated stock) from 2020/21 to 

2022/23. 

 Replacing street lights on Housing Revenue Account (HRA) land 

with LED lighting through the Council’s Estates Improvement 

Scheme (EIS). 

 Building up to 1000 net new Council homes to the sustainability 

Page 29



 Report page no. 16       Agenda page no. 

 

 

standards to be set out in the Interim Sustainable Housing Design 

Guide. 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council to promote the Solar 

Together collective purchase scheme to homeowners, which will 

provide residents with solar PV installations at a reduced cost. 

 Taking enforcement action against private landlords if their 

properties do not meet the national Minimum Energy Efficiency 

Standards (EPC F and G rated stock). 

 Bidding for central government funding through the new Green 

Homes Grant scheme to retrofit energy efficiency measures to 

private homes. £500 million of this funding will be delivered through 

local authorities to improve the energy efficiency of EPC E, F and G 

rated homes for low income households and we are working with 

other Cambridgeshire local authorities to submit a joint bid in the 

next round due April 2021. 

 Developing new policies related to climate change mitigation for new 

developments as part of the new Local Plan, taking into account the 

outcomes of the current national consultation on planning reforms. 

 Implementing the Councils Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure 

Strategy to help increase the number of private electric vehicles in 

Cambridge. This includes:  

o using taxi licensing polices and further installation of charging 

points to further increase the number of electric taxis licensed 

in the city;  

o reviewing options to facilitate the introduction of charge points 

in our multi storey and surface car parks;  

o requiring electric charging points in new developments; and  

o working with Cambridgeshire County Council on a joint 

application to the Government’s Office for Low Emissions 

Vehicles (OLEV) for funding for on-street residential electric 

charge points. 

 Through the Greater Cambridge Partnership, which the Council is a 
partner in, delivering a number of key public transport, cycling and 
walking schemes. These include:  

o 12 ‘Greenways’ providing cycling and walking radial routes 

Page 30



 Report page no. 17       Agenda page no. 

 

 

connecting Cambridge and surrounding settlements and 

employment sites.  

o bus priority schemes on Histon Road and Milton Road. 

o Public transport corridor schemes to connect growing 

communities to employment hubs, including Cambourne to 

Cambridge and Cambridge South East (Babraham Research 

Campus and Granta Park) 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council to implement a 

Government-funded scheme to provide 30 electric cargo bikes for 

use by Council services, local businesses and residents. 

 Working with private companies interested in introducing an E-bike 

hire scheme. 

 Continuing communications campaigns to promote recycling, re-use 

and waste reduction by households in Cambridge. 

 Continuing to reduce plastic usage and waste at Council buildings 

and events such as the Big Weekend and Folk Festival. 

 Supporting an application by Cambridge Sustainable Food for Silver 

Award status for Cambridge. 

 

6.12 As part of the development of the Climate Change Strategy, we will also 
carry out a review of potential additional activities that could help 
reduce emissions from the city, taking into consideration best practice 
from other comparable local areas.  

 
6.13 While the Council can take the actions identified above to help mitigate 

Climate Change, very significant action will also be needed by national 
government (and binding inter-governmental commitments) if carbon 
emissions are to be reduced and the city is to reach net zero carbon.  
Over the period of the new Climate Change Strategy, we will actively 
lobby Government to make the necessary interventions at a national 
level, and to provide the powers and resources needed at a local level 
to reduce carbon emissions in Cambridge.   
 

6.14 The UK Universities COP26 Network (including input from the 
University of Cambridge) for instance has already made a clear set of 
policy recommendations to Government in May 2020, and the city 
council supports this clear call for action on the part of national 

Page 31



 Report page no. 18       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Government and organisations who have many of the major policy and 
fiscal levers of influence within their gift. 

 
6.15 Significant action will also be needed by local residents, businesses 

and other organisations in the city if carbon emissions are to be 
reduced and the city is to reach net zero carbon. Over the period of the 
new Climate Change Strategy, the Council will seek to engage more 
actively with businesses and communities to encourage and facilitate 
behaviour change and action.  Where possible and appropriate the 
council will seek to support collaborative action between groups of 
residents and/or community groups and/or businesses. Cambridge is 
rich in knowledge, insight and expertise on issues of climate change 
and sustainability, and the council believes that much more can be 
achieved by supporting mutual and collaborative work within and 
between communities. 

 
6.15 Over the lifetime of the strategy, we plan to build on the City Leaders 

Climate Change Group and the Council’s wider engagement in other 
business partnerships (such as the BID, Cambridge Ahead, Cambridge 
2030) to develop, potentially, a broad, action-focused Sustainability 
Coalition in the city.  
 
Adapting to climate change impacts in Cambridge 

 
6.16 We recognise that, in addition to reducing carbon emissions, it is 

equally important to ensure that Cambridge adapts to the effects and 
risks of climate change identified at 3.4 above, including: increases in 
flood events; water shortages and droughts; and increased summer 
temperatures. As with climate change mitigation, the Council can 
provide leadership on adaptation issues, but it will also require 
Government policy support and action by residents, businesses and 
other organisations. 
 

6.17 The strategy will identify a range of climate change adaptation actions, 
including: 

 

 Increasing the tree canopy cover, and using parks, open spaces and 
other green infrastructure in the city to help regulate temperatures. 

 Exploring opportunities to manage climate risks through policies in 
the new Local Plan, subject to the outcomes of the current national 
consultation on planning reforms. This could include: designing 
buildings that are simple to keep cool; water efficiency policies to 
help reduce water consumption and manage water resources; and 

Page 32



 Report page no. 19       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDs) measures to help reduce flood 
risk. 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and other partners to 
manage climate change-related flood risks. 

 Providing advice to residents on how to reduce health risks during 
heatwaves and minimise flood risks 

 
Wider social and environmental objectives, including social 
justice, biodiversity, green infrastructure and air pollution 

 

6.18 As well as measures to mitigate and adapt to climate change, the 
Council’s new Climate Change Strategy will need to establish clear 
links to other social and environmental policy objectives for the Council, 
such as reducing poverty, promoting equality and social justice, tackling 
the biodiversity emergency, protecting and enhancing the city’s green 
infrastructure and reducing air pollution.  This will be particularly 
important as we work to secure a green recovery from the impacts of 
coronavirus and lockdown. 

 

6.18 We will explore how the “Doughnut Economics” model8 and concepts 
such as the Wealth Economy9 can help us to design the strategy, plan 
activity and engage partners. 

 

7.  Ambitions for reducing emissions from Cambridge 
 
7.1 In agreeing its current Climate Change Strategy in March 2016, the 

Council set an aspiration for the city of Cambridge to achieve zero 
carbon status by 2050.  This timescale is consistent with the revised, 
legally-binding target for the UK to be net zero carbon by 2050 
announced by the Government in June 2019, which was informed by 
the recommendations of the UK’s independent Committee on Climate 
Change. 

  
7.2 At the October 2019 meeting of the City Leaders Climate Change 

Group, the Committee on Climate Change explained that 2050 was the 
most credible date for achieving net zero carbon emissions across the 
whole of the UK economy. Their analysis shows that some sectors of 
the economy (e.g. electricity generation, petrol and diesel vehicles) 
could be decarbonised by the 2030s, but for most sectors, 2050 is the 
earliest credible date that they could reach net-zero. For some sectors 

                                      
8
 https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/  

9
 https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-

capital/  

Page 33

https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-capital/
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/research/research-projects/wealth-economy-social-and-natural-capital/


 Report page no. 20       Agenda page no. 

 

 

(e.g. aviation and agriculture), it will not be possible to reach zero 
emissions without off-setting measures. 

 
7.3 The Council’s current aspiration is also consistent with the 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) special report in 
2018, which found that in order to limit global temperature increases to 
1.5°C  “global net human-caused emissions of carbon dioxide (CO2) 
would need to fall by 45% from 2010 levels by 2030, reaching ‘net zero’ 
around 2050”. However, the IPCC does suggest that developed 
countries should seek to cut emissions faster than developing 
countries, as they are responsible for higher levels of per capita 
emissions, both historically and currently. 

 
7.4 On 21 February 2019, the Council declared a climate emergency. In its 

climate emergency declaration, the Council called on government, 
industry and regulators to implement the necessary changes to enable 
Cambridge and the rest of the UK to reach net zero carbon by 2030.  

 
7.5 The declaration recognised that while the Council can play a leadership 

role, and can use its policies and regulatory powers to influence 
emissions in some sectors, the actions and choices of national 
government, businesses and organisations, and individuals have a very 
significant impact on emissions in the city.   

 
7.6 As part of the development of the new Strategy, we will consider the 

latest evidence on whether the Council’s current net zero carbon 
aspiration for Cambridge should be revised, and what interim 
milestones might be set. As part of the consultation, we will seek 
residents views on their net zero carbon aspirations for the city. 

 
7.7 We plan to use the ClimateView system to identify the broad changes 

that would be needed in different areas of carbon emissions (e.g. home 
energy, vehicle transport, industry) in order for Cambridge to reach net 
zero carbon, and identify the areas where interventions would be 
needed by relevant stakeholders. This evidence-based approach will 
help inform the Council’s approach to the net zero carbon aspiration.  

 
7.8 An initial, crude estimation of the type of changes required across the 

city is set out in Appendix D.  We will develop our understanding of 
these factors, others that need to be included, and the contribution they 
are likely to make to the trajectory towards net zero, as we use the 
ClimateView tool and develop the final strategy.   

 

Page 34



 Report page no. 21       Agenda page no. 

 

 

7.9 Ultimately, the Council recognises that all stakeholders in the system 
need to work towards achieving net zero carbon status as soon as 
possible. 

 

8. Implications 
 
a) Financial Implications 

 

Funding for projects included in the Carbon Management Plan comes from a 

number of different funding sources, including the Council’s Climate Change 

Fund and existing General Fund or Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

budgets for delivering services.  The Climate Change Fund was established 

in 2008 to fund measures that will reduce the carbon footprint of the Council’s 

buildings, fleet and services. The Climate Change Fund has contributed a 

total of £1.4 million to projects delivered since 2008/09.  

 

As noted 6.9, the schemes that the Council will need to invest in to reduce its 

emissions in future will potentially have a much higher capital cost, and the 

net savings on energy costs will not always cover the capital costs of some of 

the works, so the Council will need to consider how to fund these works. 

 

The actions contained in the wider Climate Change Strategy will be funded 

through: 

 Existing budgets for delivering key services. These fall within the General 

Fund or the HRA depending on the services involved. 

 Government and other external funding sources for climate change 

initiatives (such as OLEV funding for electric charging points for taxis, bids 

to the Green Homes Grant for energy efficiency work in private homes). 

 

b) Staffing Implications 

 

Lead officers have been identified for projects in the Climate Change Strategy 

and Carbon Management Plan who have the capacity to deliver the projects 

within the stated timescales. The Climate Change Officer co-ordinates the 

overall delivery of the Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management 

Plan, with support from the Environment Policy and Project Group, which is a 

corporate group that includes many of the lead officers. 

Page 35



 Report page no. 22       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

 

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) of the aims and objectives will be 

carried out as the Climate Change Strategy and the Carbon Management 

Plan are developed. Further Equality Impact Assessments may be 

undertaken for individual actions and projects. For example, an EQIA was 

carried out for the North East Cambridge Area Action Plan. 

 

d) Environmental Implications 

 

The Climate Change Strategy and the Carbon Management Plan will have a 

high positive impact on the environment by setting out a planned approach to: 

reducing the Council’s carbon emissions; setting high standards for residents, 

businesses and organisations to reduce their carbon emissions and manage 

climate risks; and working in partnership with, influencing and learning from 

other organisations to address the causes and effects of climate change.  

 

e) Procurement Implications 

 

Recent projects identified in the Carbon Management Plan (including  LED 

lighting installations in car parks, the Guildhall energy efficiency works and 

the programme of solar PV installations) have been delivered through the 

national REFIT 3 framework. The Council signed access agreements to allow 

it to make use of the RE-FIT framework specifically designed for energy 

performance contracting. This allowed us to access Bouygues Group PLC as 

a contractor to identify and deliver energy efficiency projects. The principle 

benefit of this arrangement is that Bouygues have guaranteed the energy 

savings predicted for the projects they have delivered for the Council (subject 

to the new equipment being managed within defined limits).  

 

In April 2020, Cambridgeshire County Council led a consortium of local 

authorities including Cambridge City Council to procure a partner for future 

energy efficiency and renewable energy schemes. Bouygues were appointed 

as the contractor through this process. 

 

Page 36



 Report page no. 23       Agenda page no. 

 

 

f) Community Safety Implications 

 

The Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management Plan have minimal 

impact on Community Safety. 

 

9. Consultation and communication considerations 
 

To inform this report, we have carried out some initial consultation with local 

voluntary and community groups (including Cambridge Carbon Footprint, 

Cambridge Sustainable Food, Cambridge Friends of the Earth, Carbon 

Neutral Cambridge,  Transition Cambridge and Pivotal) and academics from 

Cambridge Zero and the Bennett Institute at the University of Cambridge and 

the Global Sustainability Unit at Anglia Ruskin University. 

 

We will be consulting on the key themes and objectives of the outline draft 

strategy set out in this report and seeking input (from residents, academics 

and community groups) on other strategic objectives or activities that should 

be included in the strategy.  As part of this consultation, we intend to hold a 

series of online public engagement workshops in October and November 

2020. The findings from this consultation will be reflected in the final version 

of the new Climate Change Strategy, which will be presented for approval by 

the Executive Councillor at the Environment and Community Scrutiny 

Committee on 25 March 2021. 

 

1. Background papers 
 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

2. Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – Summary of Carbon Management Plan projects 
(implemented and planned) 

 Appendix B – 2019/20 updates on key actions in the Climate Change 
Strategy 2016-2021 (under Objectives 2 to 5) 

 Appendix C – Potential pathways to net zero carbon – Cambridge City 
Council 

 Appendix D – Potential pathways to net zero carbon – Cambridge 
 

Page 37



 Report page no. 24       Agenda page no. 

 

 

3. Inspection of papers 
 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact David Kidston, Strategy and Partnerships Manager, tel: 01223 
457043, email: david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk  

Page 38

mailto:david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk


 

Appendix A – Summary of Carbon Management Plan projects (implemented and planned) 

 
Asset Projects implemented to date Potential projects for 2021-2026 

Swimming 

pools and 

leisure centres 

 Solar thermal system at Abbey Pool 

 Solar PV installations at Parkside Pool, Abbey Pool, 

Kings Hedges Learner Pool 

 LED lighting at Abbey astroturf pitches  

 Voltage optimisation at Abbey Pools 

 Upgrading the boilers at Abbey Pools and Cherry Hinton 

Village Centre to condensing boilers 

 A range of different energy efficiency improvements at 

different pools including: pool covers; Building Energy 

Management Systems (BEMS), Variable Speed Drives, 

heat pump, and refurbishment of an existing Combined 

Heat and Power (CHP) 

 Additional solar PV arrays at Parkside Pool and Abbey 

Pool 

 Ground source heat pumps at Parkside Pool and Abbey 

Pool 

 Air source heat pumps at Parkside Pool 

 Heating, ventilation and lighting improvements at 

Parkside Pool, Abbey Pool, Kings Hedges Learner Pool 

and Cherry Hinton Village Centre 

Fleet  Replacing new fleet vehicles with more fuel-efficient 

Euro 6 models at the end of their life span  

 Introducing 11 electric vehicles to the non-waste fleet 

(Estates and Facilities, Environmental Services). 

 1 electric waste vehicle has been purchased by the 

Shared Waste Service. 

 Fleet review – diesel fleet vehicles will be progressively 

replaced with electric vehicles, with the aim of the (non-

waste) vehicle fleet being 100% by 2028. 

 Waste fleet - replacing vehicles with electric or hydrogen 

powered vehicles as cost-effective models come to 

market  

 

Office 

accommodation 

 LED lighting and motions sensors at Guildhall and 

Mandela House 

 Solar PV installations at Guildhall, Mandela House and 

Waterbeach Depot 

 Energy efficiency works at the Guildhall, including a 

Combined Heat and Power plant (CHP), new Building 

Energy Management System (BEMs), mechanical works 

 

P
age 39



 

Asset Projects implemented to date Potential projects for 2021-2026 

to improve the efficiency of the heating and hot water 

system, roof insulation and secondary glazing 

 Voltage optimisations at Guildhall and Mandela House 

 Upgrading the boiler at Mandela House to a condensing 

boiler 

 Replacing the air conditioning system at Mandela House 

and upgrading it to a more energy efficient system. 

Car parks  LED lighting and motions sensors at Grand Arcade and 

Grafton East car parks 

 Voltage optimisation at Grafton East car park 

 

Sheltered and 

Temporary 

Housing 

(communal 

areas) 

 LED lighting Stanton House, School Court, Rawlyn 

Court and Whitefriars (communal areas) 

 Solar PV installations at Brandon Court, Whitefriars, and 

New Street Hostel 

 Lighting sensors at Whitefriars and School Court 

 

Crematorium  Solar PV installation at the Crematorium 

 Heat recovery system at the Crematorium 

 Heating and ventilation improvements/ Building Energy 

Management System (BEMS), LED lighting, insulation 

Corn Exchange  LED lighting at the Corn Exchange 

 Installing heating controls in the foyer  

 Heating improvements (boilers and air plant) 

Community 

Centres 

 Solar PV installation at Buchan Street Centre 

 Upgrading the boilers at the Meadows Community 

Centre and Ross Street Community Centre to 

condensing boilers 

 

 
  

P
age 40



 Report page no. 27       Agenda page no. 

 

Appendix B – 2019/20 updates on key actions in the Climate Change 
Strategy 2016-2021 (under Objectives 2 to 5) 
 

Action Update 

Objective 2. Reducing energy consumption and emissions from 

homes and businesses 

Developing the 

new 

Cambridge 

Climate 

Change 

Charter 

The Council procured Cambridge Carbon Footprint to 

develop a new Cambridge Climate Change Charter 

during 2019/20. The new Charter website was 

launched on 7 September 2020, which enables 

residents to calculate their carbon footprint and 

pledge to take specific actions to reduce this footprint, 

including emissions from their homes, transport and 

waste. Businesses can also sign the charter on the 

website and pledge to take specific actions to reduce 

their footprint. The Charter website also signposts 

residents and businesses to sources of further 

relevant information and support. The Charter 

website can be found here:   

https://cambridgecarbonfootprint.org/charter/  

 

Convening 

meetings of the 

City Leaders 

Climate 

Change group 

The Council has continued to convene meetings of 

the City Leaders Climate Change group, which brings 

together businesses, universities, public sector 

organisations and voluntary and community groups to 

explore how emissions in the city can be reduced. 

Since July 2017 the Council has convened 6 themed 

meetings of the group. In October 2019, the group 

considered what would be required to reach net zero 

carbon by 2050, with presentations from the national 

Committee on Climate Change, the University of 

Cambridge and the Council. In February 2020, the 

group explored the support available for businesses, 

with input from Cambridge Carbon Footprint on the 

Climate Change Charter, Landsdown Warwick on 

Environmental Management Systems, and the 

Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership on 

Page 41

https://cambridgecarbonfootprint.org/charter/


 Report page no. 28       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

wider support available. 

Discounted 

Solar PV 

scheme for 

residents 

The Council has worked with the County Council to 

promote a solar PV collective purchase scheme for 

residents. The scheme is run as an auction, with 

interested residents registering with iChoosr (at no 

obligation) and installers then bidding to provide solar 

PV for the group of interested residents. On average, 

the scheme has achieved 20% cost savings for 

residents in other local authority areas. The first 

auction will be held in September 2020. 

Grant funding 

for community 

projects on 

home energy  

 

The Council funded Cambridge Carbon Footprint 

through the Sustainable City Fund to deliver a range 

of home energy activities, including: 2 Open Eco 

Homes weekends allowing 319 residents to visit 11 

homes and buildings where carbon reduction 

measures have been installed, including the new 

Cambridge Mosque and the Marmalade Lane 

development; and 6 energy saving workshops 

attended by 198 people. 

Energy and 

water saving 

measures for 

residents in 

fuel and water 

poverty 

The Council has employed a Fuel and Water Poverty 

Officer to assist low income residents to reduce their 

energy and water costs and consumption. In 2019/20 

a total of 214 low income residents were supported to 

install energy or water saving measures in their 

homes.  

Energy 

efficiency 

improvements 

to existing 

Council homes 

The Council has reviewed the energy performance of 

Council homes. Some properties have Energy 

Performance Certificates (EPCs) and we have used 

our housing stock data to estimate EPC ratings for 

properties where an actual EPC has not yet been 

carried out. 5168 properties have an actual (or 

assumed) EPC rating of C or above. The current 

average EPC score across the Council's housing 

stock is 70.17 (a C rating), which is higher than the 

average for private housing in the city (a D rating). 

Page 42



 Report page no. 29       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

As part of a wider programme, external wall insulation 

was installed at 50 Council homes in 2019/20.  A 

review of loft insulation was completed, which 

identified 600 properties where top-up loft insulation 

is required. This work is now ordered to be completed 

in 20/21.   

Following approval in the Budget Setting Report, a 

£2.5 million investment in energy efficiency works to 

Council homes with poor energy efficiency ratings will 

be delivered 2020/21 to 2022/23. A new programme 

of external wall insulation and other efficiency 

measures to 70 homes is being procured for delivery 

in 2020/21, with additional programmes planned for 

future years. 

Sustainability 

standards and 

measures for 

new Council 

homes 

The Council’s current Sustainable Housing Design 

Guide is included as part of the brief and contract for 

all City Council developed housing schemes. All of 

the 500 homes being delivered as part of the 

programme are meeting or exceeding the energy and 

water requirements of the guide, which means they 

are achieving the equivalent of Code for Sustainable 

Homes Level 4 or above in terms of energy use and 

associated carbon emissions. The following 

measures have been included in developments: 

 19% improvement on current Building Regulations 

for Mill Road phase 1, Anstey Way, garage sites, 

Ventress Road, Cromwell Road and Akeman 

Street developments.  

 35-40% improvement on current Building 

Regulations for Mill Road Phase 2, Colville Road, 

Campkin Road, and Meadows Centre and Buchan 

Street Neighbourhood Centre developments. 

 Electric vehicle charging points and cycle parking 

above adopted cycle parking standards. 

 Mechanical ventilation with heat recovery 

Page 43



 Report page no. 30       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

 Water efficiency measures to achieve water use of 

no more than 110 litres/person/day.   

 Green roofs on buildings  

 Solar PV and Battery Storage are also being 

considered for all sites. 

Interim 

Sustainable 

Housing 

Design Guide 

Consultants, Buro Happold, were commissioned to 

produce an new interim Sustainable Housing Design 

Guide, which will set the environmental sustainability 

standards for the next programme of new build 

Council homes and provide a roadmap to zero 

carbon in line with proposed Local Plan which is due 

2023/2024. A report will be presented to Housing 

Scrutiny Committee in January 2021, after 

consultation with members and officers, with 

environmental sustainability targets for the council 

housing building for the next ten years. The report will 

set out a roadmap to zero carbon outlining the capital 

costs, running costs and tenant costs for the current 

Local Plan standards (19% reduction on 2013 

building regulations); Local Plan Plus (35% 

reduction); Passivhaus (30% reduction) and Zero 

Carbon (100% reduction).   

Implementation 

of climate 

change and 

sustainable 

design and 

construction 

policies in the 

existing Local 

Plan 

As a result of climate change and sustainable design 

and construction policies in the Local Plan, 8 non-

domestic buildings achieved the BREEAM very good 

standard, 8 non-domestic buildings achieved 

BREEAM excellent, and 1 non-domestic building 

achieved BREEAM outstanding. During 2019/20, the 

most recent lots on the Eddington residential 

development achieved Code for Sustainable Homes 

Level 5. 

 

Greater 

Cambridge 

Sustainable 

The Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Service 

developed the new SPD during 2019/20, which will 

help implement climate change and sustainable 

Page 44



 Report page no. 31       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

Design and 

Construction 

Supplementary 

Planning 

Document 

(SPD) 

design and construction policies including in the 2018 

Cambridge Local Plan. It sets out the information that 

should be submitted with planning applications to 

demonstrate how schemes meet the Councils 

requirements. Consultation on the SPD took place 

until 23 September 2019, and the document has now 

been adopted.   

Developing the 

new Greater 

Cambridge 

Local Plan 

Consultation has been carried out on the ‘issues and 

options’ for the new Local Plan. One of the ‘big 

themes’ in the recent Local Plan Issues and Options 

consultation was climate change and contributing to 

achieving net zero carbon.  

Consultants have been commissioned to produce a 

net zero carbon study as part of the Local Plan 

evidence base, which will explore how the Local Plan 

can contribute to net zero carbon development. 

Reducing carbon emissions and reaching net zero 

cannot be achieved by focussing on energy useage 

alone. The Issues and Options report set out six 

potential options for locating future development and 

growth, ranging from further densification in 

Cambridge, through development on the edge of the 

city, to development in surrounding villages, new 

settlements or along transport corridors. These 

choices will affect how much people travel to and 

from Cambridge for work, leisure, access to services 

and other purposes, and how close they live to 

existing public transport infrastructure, which will 

impact on levels of carbon emissions in the city.   

The impact of the Government’s proposed changes 

to the planning system will also need to be 

understood and reviewed – these may impact on 

local councils’ ability to set environmental standards 

through their own plan-making processes. 

Page 45



 Report page no. 32       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

North East 

Cambridge 

Area Action 

Plan 

Climate change and low carbon development is a key 

priority in the draft Area Action Plan for the North 

East Cambridge development and a climate 

emergency policy is included in the draft document.  

An energy masterplan is in the process of being 

procured for the site, which will consider the energy 

and associated infrastructure required to help support 

the transition to net zero carbon.  Targets for 

inclusion in the Area Action Plan will be informed by 

the net zero carbon study for the Local Plan. 

Energy 

efficiency 

standards in 

Council-owned 

commercial 

properties 

The Council has developed a Commercial Property 

Energy Efficiency Plan, which aims to make all of its 

commercial property compliant with the national 

Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) 

Regulations.  From April 2018, the regulations require 

that any vacant property that will be let in future must 

achieve an EPC (Energy Performance Certificate) 

rating of band E or better. From 1 April 2023, 

landlords must not continue letting a non-domestic 

property which is already let if it has an EPC (Energy 

Performance Certificate) rating below band E. 

There are 114 Council commercial properties that do 

not have an EPC. During 2019/20, draft EPCs for 

these properties were completed. They are currently 

being reviewed and will lead to a proposed 

programmes of work to ensure compliance with 

MEES Regulations and identify potential 

improvements to exceed minimum requirements 

where funding allows.  Future redevelopment 

opportunities are also being considered which would 

see improved environmental performance of the 

portfolio. 

3. Reducing emissions from transport 

Electric 

charging points 

The Council installed new rapid electric charging 

points for taxis using funding from the government’s 

Page 46



 Report page no. 33       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

for taxis Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) and a 

financial contribution from the Council to encourage 

the take-up of low-emissions electric taxis. 8 charge 

points have been installed to date (at Adam and Eve 

Car Park, Arbury Court, Castle Hill car park and 

Newmarket Road). In total up to 21 rapid charge 

points will be installed through the project. The 

conditions of the OLEV grant require that these 

charging points are to be used by taxis only for the 

first 3 years, but after this period we will review who 

can use the charging points. 

Licensing 

policy for 

electric taxis 

The Council’s taxi licensing regulations require all 

licensed taxis in Cambridge to be zero or ultra-low 

emission by 2028, and incentives are available for 

taxi operators to encourage the shift from diesel 

vehicles to low or zero-emission alternatives. 

Together with the installation of charging points, this 

has contributed to an increase in the number of fully 

electric taxis operating in Cambridge from 2 in 

2017/18 to 35 in 2019/20. There are now a total of 35 

fully electric (zero emissions) 4 plug in hybrid (ultra 

low emissions) and 62 hybrid (low emission) taxis 

licenced in the city.  

Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure 

strategy 

 

An Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy was 

approved at Environment and Community Scrutiny 

Committee in October 2019. The Strategy identifies 

how the Council and its partners, including 

Cambridgeshire County Council, can help to increase 

the number of electric charging points available to the 

public within the city. City Council activity includes: 

 reviewing options to facilitate the introduction of 

charge points in our multi storey and surface car 

parks  

 including electric charging points in the plans for 

the redevelopment of Park Street Car Park 

Page 47



 Report page no. 34       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

 requiring electric charging points in new 

developments 

 working with Cambridgeshire County Council on a 

joint application to the Government’s Office for 

Low Emissions Vehicles (OLEV) for funding for on-

street residential electric charge points  

E-cargo bikes The Council recently secured Government funding for 

a joint project with Cambridgeshire County Council to 

provide 30 electric cargo bikes for use by Council 

services, local businesses and residents. 

Cycling, 

walking and 

public transport 

schemes  

 

The Greater Cambridge Partnership, which the 

Council is a partner in, has delivered improvements 

(such as raised or segregated cycle lanes or widened 

shared use paths) to 4 cycle routes across the city on 

Arbury Road, Ditton Lane, Hills Road, and links to 

Cambridge North Station and Cambridge Science 

Park. Improvements have been made to Fulbourn 

Road, but the full scheme is due to be completed by 

the end of 2020.  

Work on the Chisholm Trail, which will provide a 

mostly off-road cycling and walking route between 

Cambridge Station and Cambridge North Station, has 

been progressed during 2019/20. The Abbey-

Chesterton bridge has been delivered and a new jetty 

is being installed to connect the Stourbridge Common 

and Ditton Meadows footpaths in August 2020. 

Through its Environmental Improvement Programme 

(EIP), during 2019/20 the Council also directly funded 

and delivered improved bus shelters in Chesterton 

Lane and Gilbert Road, and new cycle parking stands 

around Mitcham’s Corner.  

Local Lettings 

Plan provisions 

The Council has developed a Local Lettings Plan 

framework for new Council housing developments. 

The framework will give priority to people working 

Page 48



 Report page no. 35       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

within an agreed geographical radius of the 

development, whilst ensuring that priority is available 

to employees of a range of employers and 

employment types. This measure is intended to help 

reduce commuting by car from tenants of new 

Council housing developments. 

Objective 4. Reducing consumption of resources, increasing 

recycling and reducing waste 

Promoting 

recycling and 

reducing waste 

 

During 2019/20, the Council carried out several 

communications campaigns to promote recycling, 

waste reduction and re-use to households, including 

articles in Cambridge Matters magazine, events and 

social media activity. In the lead-up to Christmas 

2019 communications focussed on reducing and 

recycling household waste associated with 

Christmas.  

The household recycling rate for 2019/20 in Greater 

Cambridge was 51%, which was the same as in 

2018/19, but the quality of recyclate improved with 

reduced contamination in collections following 

communications campaigns on this issue. 

The Council also signed the Cambridge Plastic 

Pledge, undertook a number of actions to reduce 

plastic consumption at Council buildings and events, 

used its licensing policy to require traders at 

Cambridge market not to offer plastic cups and trays, 

and promoted ways to reduce plastic useage to 

residents.  

Sustainable 

Food 

The Council continued to support the Cambridge 

Sustainable Food Network to work towards the 

Sustainable Food Cities Network’s Silver Award for 

Cambridge.  During 2019/20 the Council also funded 

Cambridge Sustainable Food to: develop community 

fridges to redistribute surplus food from local SMEs; 

and run a Summer Vegetable Festival in July 2019, 

Page 49



 Report page no. 36       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

which was attended by 3,365 people and involved 41 

partners delivering 13 events. 

Sustainable 

City Grant 

activity 

The Council funded Cambridge Carbon Footprint to 

deliver a range of activities as part of the Circular 

Cambridge project, including talks, stalls at Arbury 

carnival and Chesterton Festival, a Sustainable 

Fashion Festival, repair cafes and clothes swaps at 

Cambridge University events, and upcycled art 

displays in 5 charity shops. 

Reducing 

plastics usage 

at Cambridge 

Folk Festival.  

The Folk Festival is accredited as an outstanding 

Greener Festival, and for a number of years the 

festival has required traders to use bio-degradable 

consumables (cutlery, cups, straws etc.) and not to 

offer plastic bags and single serve condiments to 

customers. Reusable polycarbonate glasses rather 

than plastic glasses are used at the festival’s bars 

and in 2019 no single use plastic bottles were to be 

sold or provided to staff/artists on site. 

Reducing 

plastics usage 

at the Big 

Weekend 

A number of steps were taken to reduce plastics 

usage at the 2019 Big Weekend event by: providing 

additional drinking water stand pipes for the public; 

providing free refillable water bottles for the public, 

staff and artists in partnership with Cambridge Water; 

using returnable recyclable pint cups and a deposit 

scheme at the onsite bar; requiring no plastic water 

bottles to be offered or used backstage; using 

reusable cable ties, fabric banners, and chalkboard 

signage; and a marketing campaign to encourage the 

public to take litter home, and to use  refillable water 

bottles and re-usable coffee cups. 

5. Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to 

adapt to the impacts of climate change 

Increasing the 

tree canopy in 

The Council planted 500 trees in 2019/20 and gave 

away 350 trees to residents as part of the 

Page 50



 Report page no. 37       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

Cambridge ‘Free Trees for Babies’ scheme. The Council also 

launched a new project to significantly increase the 

tree canopy in Cambridge, which will have climate 

change mitigation and adaptation benefits.  

Promoting 

biodiversity 

The Council is currently drafting a Biodiversity 

Strategy for 2021 to 2030 (to replace its existing 

Nature Conservation Strategy). The Strategy will 

focus on delivering a measurable biodiversity net gain 

on the City Councils estate from a DEFRA metric 

baseline. This will be achieved through enhanced 

management of existing Local Nature Reserves and 

making parks and housing open spaces more 

hospitable to wildlife through creation of meadows, 

scrub and woodland.  

As part the strategy, the Council will also seek to 

engage and influence individuals, institutions and 

businesses to implement similar measures on their 

land to create a citywide network around the core 

designated sites. 

A number of other biodiversity projects were also 

progressed during 2019/20: 

 

 Continued creation of long grass and meadow 

areas across formal parks managed by the 

Council. 

 Greater Cambridge Chalk Stream project – We 

have partnered with Cambridge Water to 

undertake an assessment of the pressures facing 

our chalk streams and prioritise action for 

investment and community involvement. 

 Logan’s Meadow Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 

extension – In autumn 2020 we will be working 

with the newly formed Friends group to consult on 

the doubling of the area of LNR and creation of 

new fen and floodplain habitats, including wet 

Page 51



 Report page no. 38       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Action Update 

woodland, grassland, reedbeds and scrapes. 

 

Implementing 

existing Local 

Plan water 

efficiency 

policies in new 

developments 

The Local Plan requirement for water efficiency of 

110 litres/person/day (or better) was secured on 17 

residential planning applications.  For non-residential 

schemes 10 achieved a 40% reduction in water 

useage, 2 a 50% reduction and a further 2 met a 55% 

reduction. 

 

 
  

Page 52



 Report page no. 39       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix C – Potential pathways to net zero carbon – City Council 

Action 

Emissions 

impact 

(approx.) 

Comment 

 

Electrification of fleet + 

business mileage 

 

-25% 

Achievable within around 6 years 

(potentially), but likely to require 

significant capital investment, albeit 

potentially with reduced running costs.  

Agreed in principle for non-waste fleet 

at Environment & Community scrutiny 

Committee, June 2020 

Energy efficiency 

measures & renewables in 

existing assets (admin 

buildings, pools, 

community centres, 

sheltered housing etc) 

-25%? 

Likely to be at significantly higher costs 

per tCO2 saved 

Potential to explore costs and benefits 

of investing in solar energy outside 

Cambridge  

Office Accommodation 

Strategy ( 

 

-5%? 

Potential to rationalise administrative 

building estate further, depending on 

future needs assessment 

 

Rationalisation of other 

energy consuming-assets  

 

-X%? 

As the council reviews and modernises 

its service delivery arrangements in 

the coming years, there may be 

options that further reduce energy 

consumption and emissions 

  Carbon Capture + 

“Offsetting”? 
-Y%? 

To achieve net zero carbon, we may 

need to consider a range of policy 

options for managing our emissions 

New assets & service 

demands (new council 

buildings and additional 

demands on council 

services from growing 

physical city and 

population) 

+Z%? 

 Cambridge is set to grow both 

physically and in population terms in 

the coming years – the Council will 

need to plan carefully how it serves 

those new communities in as low-

carbon a way as possible 

 
  

Page 53



 Report page no. 40       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix D – Potential pathways to net zero carbon – Cambridge 

Action 
Emissions 

impact  
Comment 

Agency 

Industry & other 

organisations: 49% 

Reduce usage 

(change business 

products, practices & 

processes – including 

air travel) 

Decarbonisation + 

Carbon Capture 

Energy efficiency 

??? 

 

 

May require stricter Government 

legislation / regulation / fiscal incentives 

e.g. carbon budgets / pricing 

Will also respond to changing patterns of 

consumer demand 

Grid infrastructure will need reinforcement 

to allow electrification of heat & transport. 

 

 

G 

 

R/B 

 

G/B 

Domestic: 31% 

Reduce usage 

(behaviour change) 

Decarbonisation + 

carbon capture 

Energy efficiency 

(retrofit) 

??? 

Likely to require significant national scale 

investment in retrofit + renewable heat + 

behaviour change (diet, heating) 

Likely to require legislation / regulation to 

mandate e.g. in private rented sector 

Planning policy will need to be allowed to 

set higher standards for new builds 

G 

R 

 

G 

 

G/C 

Transport: 20% 

Reduce usage (fewer 

trips; increase digital / 

remote working) 

Electrification 

Modal shift  

??? 

 

Grid infra will need reinforcement to allow 

electrification of all vehicles (or 

development of hydrogen/alternative) 

Need modal shift to electric buses, CAM, 

cycling, walking etc. 

 

G/B 

 

 

R/C/B 

City Growth +Z%?? 

Additional new homes may consume more 

energy, water and travel subject to 

mitigation measures; although 

densification of development (with homes 

close to jobs and other amenities), rather 

than dispersed development, may offer a 

spatial pattern that minimises the net 

carbon impact, not least from 

travel.  These issues will be explored 

further as the council and our South 

Cambridgeshire partners develop the new 

joint Local Plan.  

C/R/B 

KEY:  G = Government;  C = Council;   B = Business;   R = Resident 

Page 54



 

 Report page no. 1       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Item 

GENERAL AND SUNDAY MARKET TRADER COVID IMPACT 

BUSINESS SUPPORT OFFER 

 

 
Not a Key Decision 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 

On 11th June, 2020, the Council recorded an urgent decision to introduce 
market trader Covid-19 impact business support measures, under paragraph 
2 of section 9, Council Procedure Rules.   

 

In recognition of the continuing impact of Covid-19 on the trading conditions 
being faced by the Council’s General and Sunday Market traders and the 
need to sustain a viable city centre market, as a key factor to the city centre 
‘high streets’ economic recovery, the Council is proposing extending the 
programme of support measures from 1st October to 31st December, 2020. 

 

To:  
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre 
Environment & Community Scrutiny Committee     [01/10/2020] 

Report by:  

Joel Carré, Head of Environmental Services  

Tel: 01223 - 458201  Email: joel.carre@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

Market 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



 Report page no. 2       Agenda page no. 

 

 

  

2. Recommendations 
 
In recognition of the difficult trading conditions and to help sustain General 
and Sunday market occupancy figures and a viable city centre market, the 
Executive Councillor is recommended: 
 
2.1 To apply a 25% discount to all General and Sunday Market traders for 
each of the deferred monthly rental invoices (June/ July/ August and 
September, 2020) and issue a combined invoice for this four month deferred 
period in October, 2020.   
 
2.2 To continue with the discounted standard pitch rate of £10/ day, Monday-
Friday (as per 11th June urgent decision); and introduce an additional 
discounted standard pitch rate of £25/ day, Saturday and Sunday; and 
premium pitch rate of £15/ day, Monday-Friday; and £30/ day, Saturday and 
Sunday, with effect from 1st October to 31st December, 2020; and any further 
extension subject to review. 
 
2.3 To waiver the ‘casual’ trader premium charge of £5/ day until the end of 
the financial year (31st March, 2021) with the aim of encouraging ‘casual’ 
traders to take on daily available vacant pitches to maximise market 
occupancy rates.  The corresponding recommended standard or premium 
pitch fee rates, as detailed in 2.2 above, will continue to be applied to ‘casual’ 
traders. 
 
2.4 To extend the ‘relinquishing of license’ measure (ie. removal of the four 
week notice period condition to relinquish licence, introduced on 23rd March, 
2020), until the 30th November, 2020. 
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 On Monday, 23rd March, 2020, the Government announced lockdown 
measures to help prevent the associated risks of spreading the corona-virus 
(Covid-19).  This meant, with immediate effect, Outdoor Markets were closed, 
with only food stalls & essential services being allowed to remain open.  In 
response, the Council announced the following support measures for all 
market traders: 
 

 Rent free period of 12 weeks (ending 15th June, 2020) 

 4% direct debit rebate to help with March, 2020, invoice 

 Removing the 4 week notice period condition for relinquishing licenses 

Page 56



 Report page no. 3       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 Waiving fee’s for traders self-isolating prior to 23rd March, 2020 

 Holding off pursuit of historic rent arrears for a period of 12 weeks 
(ending 15th June, 2020).  

 
3.2 As of 1st June, 2020, the Government announced that Outdoor Markets 
will be able to fully re-open for all licensed trading activities.  This was 
advisory guidance and subject to the assessment of the market operator that 
it was safe to do so.   
 
3.3 On 11th June, an urgent decision, under paragraph 2 of section 9, Council 
Procedure Rules, was recorded to re-open the market and its internal 
standard rate pitches, from Monday, 22nd June, in accordance with proposed 
‘Covid safe’ market recovery plan and with the following agreed measures: 
 

 Re-introduction of pitch fee rental charges from Monday, 15th June (ie. 
when the agreed 12-week rent free period finishes) for premium rate 
pitches only, with the exception of those that have standard rate pitches 
attached to their premium rate pitches 

 Reversion to 2019/20 standard and premium pitch fee rates  

 Extension of £10 ‘discounted’ rate for standard rate pitches (currently 
only Monday & Tuesday) to Monday-Friday until the end of the financial 
year 

 For those unable to return to trade, and/ or do not engage with the 
Council over their intention to return, the Council’s expectation is that 
they will surrender their pitches.  However, the Council will not re-
license their pitches for a period of 12 weeks, in order to give them the 
opportunity to re-apply for these pitches.  In the interim, the Council will 
utilise these surrendered pitches by charging traders who are allocated 
to them on a ‘casual’ basis.  

 For traders that are unable to return to trade on standard rate pitches, 
fee charges will be with-held until weekly alternating internal aisle 
trading system is introduced; and/ or alternative street locations 
provided for them to trade from  

 
3.4 Since the introduction of these measures, the city centre has continued to 
re-open and footfall has slowly increased, from a position in June of c60% 
down, on the same period the previous year, to a rate at the beginning of 
September of c25% down, on the same period the previous year.  That said, 
market trading conditions remain challenging, with all areas of the General 
and Sunday Market reporting clear, as per the following data obtained from 
members of the Cambridge Market Traders Association (CMTA): 
 

Page 57



 Report page no. 4       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 Hot food: weekday sales are 45% down, and weekend sales 30% 
down, compared to same period as last year; 

 Arts and crafts, books, music: 75% down compared to last year 

 Momentos/ souvenirs (including Cambridge-branded clothing): 85% 
compared to last year 

 
3.5 The impact of Covid-19 is also evident on General and Sunday Market 
occupancy figures, with current weekly rate of 67% occupancy, compared 
with 95% pre-covid, as detailed in the following table. 

 

Pre-Covid-19 Occupancy 
figure/ % 

 

Currently Occupancy 
figure/ % 

Monday 82% Monday 60% 

Tuesday 89% Tuesday 60% 

Wednesday 97% Wednesday 65% 

Thursday 94% Thursday 68% 

Friday 99% Friday 68% 

Saturday 99% Saturday 74% 

Sunday 100% Sunday 72% 

 
Total average 

 
95% 

 

 
Total average 

 
67% 

 
3.6 In terms of the Government’s national business support measures, the 
vast majority of General and Sunday Market traders were not entitled to the 
£10,000 small business grants, as they did not qualify due to not paying 
business rates on their pitches. That said market traders were actively 
encouraged to apply for the discretionary grants to assist with rent; and and 
for the Self Employment Income Support Scheme, but there is no available 
data to confirm levels of uptake. 
 

3.7 In recognition of the continuing difficult trading conditions being faced by 
General and Sunday Market traders and the need to sustain a viable city 
centre market, as a key factor to the ‘high street’s’ economic recovery, the 
Council is proposing extending the current programme of support measures  
as follows: 
 

 Applying a 25% discount to all General and Sunday Market traders for 
each of the deferred monthly rental invoices (June/ July/ August and 
September, 2020) and issue a combined invoice for this four month 
deferred period in October, 2020.  This recommended discount rate is 

Page 58



 Report page no. 5       Agenda page no. 

 

 

considered fair and reasonable given the loss of footfall and is 
comparative to discount rates being introduced for other similar outdoor 
markets. 

 Continuing with the discounted standard pitch rate of £10/ day, 
Monday-Friday (as per 11th June urgent decision); and introducing an 
additional discounted standard pitch rate of £25/ day, Saturday and 
Sunday; and premium pitch rate of £15/ day, Monday-Friday; and £30/ 
day, Saturday and Sunday, with effect from 1st October to 31st 
December, 2020; and with any further extension subject to review. 

 Waiving the ‘casual’ trader premium charge of £5/ day until the end of 
the financial year with the aim of encouraging ‘casual’ traders to take on 
daily available vacant pitches to maximise market occupancy rates.  
The corresponding recommended standard or premium pitch fee rates, 
as detailed in 2.2 above, will continue to be applied to ‘casual’ traders. 

 Extending the previously agreed relinquishing of license measure (ie. 
removal of 4 week notice period condition to relinquish licence, 
introduced from 23rd March, 2020), until the 30th November, 2020 

 

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
Based on current occupancy rates, the financial impact of the 
recommended measures is a c£85,000 reduction in income.  This 
reduction is on top of an already c£205,000 loss in income arising from 
the Covid-19 support measures already implemented to date. 

b) Staffing Implications 
None  

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
The recommended extensed support measures will have a positive 
impact on the viability of trader businesses.  

d) Environmental Implications 
Nil 

e) Procurement Implications 
Not applicable. 

f) Community Safety Implications 
None 
 
 

Page 59



 Report page no. 6       Agenda page no. 

 

 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 
 

General and Sunday Market traders, both individually and through the 
CMTA and Friends of Cambridge Market, have been consulted during the 
process. The Field Officer of the National Market Traders Federation 
(NMTF) has also been consulted. 
 

6. Background papers 
 

None 

 

7. Appendices 

None 
 

8. Inspection of papers 
 
To inspect any background papers or if you have a query on the report, 
please contact Tim Jones, Markets & Street Trading Manager, tel: 01223 - 
457465, email: tim.jones@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 60



 
Report page no. 1 Agenda page no. 

 

Item 

S106 FUNDING ROUND 2020: 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 

 
Key Decision 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council uses S106 contributions paid by developers to mitigate the 

impact of developments on facilities and amenities in Cambridge. In line 
with the arrangements for annual generic S106 funding rounds, agreed 
by the Executive Councillor in March 2019, the Council invited grant 
applications from community groups for improvements to their 
community facilities, which could be made available for wider 
community use, as part of the 2020 S106 funding round. 

 
1.2 In view of the Covid-19 lockdown, applications for the 2020 round were 

invited over an extended period (from mid-March to the end of July). Six 
have been received and assessed against the Council’s S106 selection 
criteria. This report outlines the applications and officer assessments 
and recommends four community facilities S106 grants, plus a 
provisional funding allocation for a grant proposal to be developed in 
more detail. 
 

1.3 Alongside the 2020 generic S106 funding round, this report also takes 
stock of the need to increase outdoor sports S106 funding levels for a 
couple of new sports pavilions in the city where extra community 
facilities S106 allocations are proposed as well. 

To:  
Councillor Anna Smith, Executive Councillor for Communities 
Environment & Community Scrutiny Committee                    01/10/20 
Report by:  
Jackie Hanson, Community Funding and Development Manager  
Tel: (01223) 457867     Email: jackie.hanson@cambridge.gov.uk 
Wards affected: All, particularly East Chesterton, West Chesterton, 
Coleridge, Romsey and Queen Edith’s wards 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7

mailto:hanson@cambridge.gov.uk


 
Report page no. 2 Agenda page no. 

 

 

2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Executive Councillor is recommended to 

 
2.1 Agree the following S106 community facilities grants and funding, 

detailed in paragraphs 4.1-4.2 and Appendices A and B, subject to: 
 planning and building control requirements being satisfactorily met; 
 business case approval; 
 signed community grant agreement, securing appropriate community 

use of the facilities; and 
 a review of relevant funding allocations if any of these S106-funded 

projects cannot progress to the implementation stage within 
18 months (that is, by the end of March 2022). 

 
 Facility (and ward) Purpose Award 

2.1.1 Nightingale Community 
Garden (Queen Edith’s) 

Outside covered informal 
kitchen and activity area 

£8,650 
grant 

2.1.2 Nightingale Pavilion 
(Queen Edith’s) 

Multi-purpose community 
room, storage, kitchen & 
equipment 

£20,000 
costs 

2.1.3 Chesterton Pavilion 
(East Chesterton) 

Storage facilities for 
meeting space and 
equipment 

£20,000 
costs 

2.1.4 Notts Own Scout Hut, 
Marmora Road (Romsey) 

Kitchen and toilet 
improvements 

£40,000 
grant 

 
2.2 Provisionally allocate up to £100,000 for a possible community facilities 

improvement grant to St James’ Church, Wulfstan Way (Queen Edith’s 
ward) until the report on the 2021 S106 funding round when the project 
proposals will come back to this committee for further consideration. 
(Paragraph 4.2 refers). 

 
2.3 Allocate an additional £60,000 of outdoor sports S106 contributions for 

constructing and equipping the new pavilion at Nightingale Avenue 
Recreation Ground in Queen Edith’s ward (alongside the additional 
£20,000 of community facility S106 funding mentioned in 2.1.2 above), 
subject to amended business case approval. (See paragraph 4.4-4.6). 

Page 62



 
Report page no. 3 Agenda page no. 

 

 

2.4 Allocate an additional £40,000 of outdoor sports S106 contributions for 
constructing and equipping the new pavilion at Chesterton Recreation 
Ground in East Chesterton (alongside the £20,000 of community facility 
S106 funding mentioned in 2.1.3 above), subject to amended business 
case approval. (See paragraphs 4.7-4.8). 

 
2.5 Instruct officers to review the progress of the East Barnwell Community 

Centre project in Abbey ward (currently allocated £255,000) and the 
steps that may be needed to ensure that those S106 contributions can 
be used on time, and report back to this scrutiny committee by June 
2021. (Paragraph 4.5 refers) 

 
3. BACKGROUND: S106 COMMUNITY FACILITY GRANTS 
 
3.1. The Council has secured off-site S106 funding from developers to help 

mitigate the impact of local development. This includes generic S106 
contributions (for the provision or improvement of particular types of 
infrastructure in the city) agreed before changes to the regulations 
governing the use of S106 funding in April 2015. An overview can be 
found at: www.cambridge.gov.uk/our-approach-to-s106. 
 

3.2 The Council runs annual S106 funding rounds to identify appropriate use 
of the generic S106 funding still available. The 2020 S106 funding round 
covers proposals for improvements to community facilities (in this report) 
as well as to play areas and open spaces (reported to the Planning and 
Transport Scrutiny Committee on 29 September 2020). 

 
3.3 S106 funding has to be used for its intended purposes. Community 

facilities S106 funding can be used to provide or improve buildings or 
structures within the city of Cambridge in which local people/groups can 
meet for social or community activities. Examples of the types of 
projects which have already been funded using S106 funding include 
improvements to meeting halls/rooms and upgrades to their kitchens, 
toilets, storage, furniture and equipment.  

 
3.4 All wards in Cambridge have benefitted from the provision or 

improvement of local community facilities, funded by local S106 
contributions. However, as mentioned in previous S106 funding reports, 
the availability of the remaining generic S106 funds is limited and 
unevenly spread across the city. 

Page 63

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/our-approach-to-s106


 
Report page no. 4 Agenda page no. 

 

 

a. This reflects differences across the city in the amount and scale of 
housing development and S106-funded projects (completed or being 
developed) in each ward to mitigate the impact of development. 

b. In many cases, S106 contributions from a ward are spent in the 
same ward. However, it is sometimes appropriate for funds from one 
ward to be spent on providing/improving nearby community facilities 
in another ward. 

c. Consistent with all previous S106 funding rounds, the 2020 generic 
S106 funding rounds has only been able to seek project proposals 
from those wards that still have S106 funding available locally. 

 
Table 1: Community facilities generic S106 funding availability by ward1 

Wards  Availability  Wards  Availability 
NORTH AREA   EAST AREA  
Arbury £35,000  Abbey £48,000 
East Chesterton £24,000  Coleridge £111,000 
West Chesterton £41,000  Petersfield None 
King’s Hedges £34,000  Romsey £32,000 
SOUTH AREA   WEST/CENTRAL  
Cherry Hinton None  Castle None 
Queen Edith’s £209,0002   Market £42,000 
Trumpington £60,000  Newnham None 

 
3.5 Table 1, above, sets out current generic S106 funding availability by 

ward. This is much the same as the March 2020 analysis featured on 
the Council’s website throughout the 2020 S106 funding round. Funding 
is available in 10 wards (particularly Queen Edith’s and Coleridge)3. 

 
1. Figures are rounded down to the nearest £1,000. S106 funding availability is updated 

and reviewed regularly and the amounts are subject to change. 
2. Over £150,000 has been received in the last year from a development in Queen 

Edith’s ward for the improvement of existing (or provision of new) off-site community 
facilities for use by residents of that development. 

3. The S106 funding availability figures for Trumpington ward takes into account that a 
grant of £15,000 for a meeting space at Empty Common community garden, which 
was prioritised in the 2018 S106 funding round, could not been taken forward by the 
local group that had requested it. The S106 funding allocation from Trumpington ward 
has, therefore, been released for spend on another local project. 

Page 64



 
Report page no. 5 Agenda page no. 

 

 

There is none left available in four other wards (Castle, Cherry Hinton, 
Newnham and Petersfield) because the S106 funding from those wards 
has already been spent or is allocated to projects under development4. 

 
3.6 The arrangements for the 2020 S106 funding round for community facility 

improvements were agreed by the Executive Councillor following a report 
to the Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 21st March 2019. This 
process was followed for the 2020 S106 funding round, albeit that it was 
extended in the context of the Coronavirus lockdown: 

 
Table 2: 
Annual generic S106 funding round process: community facilities 

 
Proposals invited from wards where funding 

available. (March) 

 

 
Deadline for seeking grant applications & proposals 

(normally end April but, in 2020, extended to 
end July due to Covid-19) 

 

 
Applications assessed against selection criteria 

(normally May but, in 2020, 
took place in August) 

 

 
Councillors invited to comment on relevant proposals 

(normally early June but, in 2020, 
took place in early September 2020) 

 

 
Proposals, assessment and funding recommendations 

reported to Scrutiny Committee 
(normally in June but, in 2020, October 2020) 

 

 
4. All available generic community facilities contributions available in Petersfield and 

Cherry Hinton have already been allocated to equipping the new community facility on 
Mill Road and the development of Cherry Hinton community hub respectively. 

Page 65



 
Report page no. 6 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.7 The 2020 S106 funding round was publicised via the Council’s website, 
social media and news releases. Where S106 funding has been 
available in a ward, the local ward councillors have been: 
a. invited to put forward eligible proposals for its use; 
b. asked to encourage local groups also to put forward eligible 

proposals; and 
c. given the opportunity in early September 2020 to comment on any of 

the proposals received in their area of the city, as part of the 
assessment process5. 

 
3.8 The community facility improvement proposals received during the 2020 

S106 funding round have been assessed against the following selection 
criteria, which were featured in the application pack. This highlighted 
that proposals needed to: 
a. be eligible for community facilities S106 funding (e.g., within the city, 

not for repairs, maintenance or like-for-like replacements); 
b. be affordable within the community facilities S106 funding available 

within that part of the city to which the proposal relates; 
c. demonstrate that it would represent an effective use of resources in 

line with the Council’s strategic objectives; 
d. provide additional benefit (for example, providing more or better 

facilities or equipment that will help to meet increasing demands); 
e. be accessible, in line with Council equalities policies (involving a 

legally binding community use agreement detailing arrangements for 
making the facility available for wide community use); 

f. be realistic, achievable and ready to be considered (e.g., with clarity 
over raising the necessary funding for the overall project and 
securing any planning permission needed) - priority is given to 
project proposals which could reasonably be expected to be 
completed within 18 months of a grant award decision 

g. be financially viable with robust management plans (with sufficient 
resources in place to ensure the effective management and running 
of the facility in the future).  

 
5. Two councillor comments have been received on the community facilities proposals 

and are featured highlighted in appendix A. An oral update will be given at the scrutiny 
committee meeting on any further comments received from councillors following the 
publication of this report. 

Page 66



 
Report page no. 7 Agenda page no. 

 

 

4.  CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 2020 S106 funding round for community facilities 
4.1  The six community facilities grant applications received are detailed in 

Appendix A alongside the officer assessment. Appendix B outlines how 
far the applications meet the agreed S106 selection criteria. 
a. Four of the applications meet the selection criteria and are 

recommended for funding in paragraph 2.1 above. 
b. Given that the use of S106 funding is, first and foremost, to mitigate 

the impact of development (and the extra demands arising for 
community meeting space), the proposal for double-glazing 
improvements in the main hall of St Paul’s Church, Trumpington 
does not fully meet the selection criteria. 

 
4.2 The other application is from St James’ Church on Wulfstan Way in 

Queen Edith’s ward for improvements to its church hall, but is not ready 
for full consideration at this stage. The church would like to expand and 
improve the hall’s main kitchen, servery and seating area and upgrade 
the disabled toilet and baby changing facilities to current standards. 
However, given its focus on supporting the local community during the 
Covid-19 lockdown, the church has not been able to develop the 
proposals as far as it would have wanted. The church has carried out a 
lot of preparatory work, but needs to finalise the scope of the project 
and make progress on securing other sources of funding and obtaining 
the necessary approvals. 
a. To enable the church to do this, paragraph 2.2 recommends making 

a provisional allocation of £100,000 until the report on the 2021 S106 
funding round, by when the project proposals will need to come back 
to this committee for further consideration. It is hoped that this 
provisional S106 funding allocation will enable the church to lever in 
additional funding from other external sources for its wider project. 

b. This recommended provisional allocation (of local S106 contributions 
from the ward to a proposal under development in the same ward) is 
consistent with the approach taken by the South Area Committee in 
2015, when community facilities S106 contributions from Cherry 
Hinton were earmarked for the development of proposals for the 
Cherry Hinton Community Hub. 

Page 67



 
Report page no. 8 Agenda page no. 

 

 

c. If the church can provide an update as part of the 2021 S106 funding 
round, which officers can incorporate into the next S106 priority-
setting report (currently scheduled for June 2021), the aim would be 
to clarify whether there can be a firm recommendation for S106 
funding could be made at that point and, if so, how much that could 
be for (either more or less than the proposed £100,000 provisional 
allocation). 

 
Outdoor sports S106 funding needs 

4.3 Beyond the annual generic S106 funding round relating to community 
facilities, the Executive Councillor in March 2019 agreed that proposals 
for the use of generic, sports S106 funding would come forward to this 
Committee as and when they are ready, in line with strategic priorities. 
There are two additional funding recommendations to consider now, 
which need to be viewed alongside the proposals for community 
facilities S106 funding for the new pavilions being built by the City 
Council at Nightingale Avenue and Chesterton recreation grounds. 

 
4.4 Nightingale Avenue Rec Ground Pavilion: The existing pavilion is to 

be fully demolished. A new build, approximately three times the size, will 
replace the current building. It will consist of new changing and officials 
rooms, toilet facilities and a very large multipurpose meeting room and 
kitchen, along with storage for groups and clubs. External landscaping, 
better access from Nightingale Avenue, a large veranda feature and 
community flower beds, will complete the new facility for public use. 
 

4.5 In June 2018, the Executive Councillor agreed to increase the 
community facilities S106 funding contribution for the new Nightingale 
Avenue Recreation Ground Pavilion from £33,000 up to £150,000 
towards the increased overall project budget of £425,000. This reduced 
the outdoor sports S106 funding allocation from £370,000 to £275,000. 
Since then, the project has passed the business case and planning 
approval stages and has been to procurement for a modular build. 

 
4.6 Given that the estimated construction costs have now come in £80,000 

higher than expected a couple of years ago, it is necessary to increase 
the S106 funding allocated to reflect the improvements being made to 
the facility and to allow for equipping the rooms for use. It is 
acknowledged that this project has been delayed in the past and further 
delays with the pandemic have affected delivery timelines. However, 

Page 68



 
Report page no. 9 Agenda page no. 

 

 

works are now under way to demolish the building and prepare the 
foundations for this eagerly awaited sports and community facility. 
a. Recommendation 2.1.2 and the details in the appendices have 

already addressed the need for £20,000 of additional community 
facilities funding to help meet the costs of the large community 
meeting space, storage and kitchen along with equipment for the 
spaces being provided within the new pavilion. 

b. The 2020 S106 funding round report to the Planning & Transport 
Scrutiny Committee on 29 September 2020 is recommending that 
the Executive Councillor for Planning Policy and Open Spaces 
makes available £10,000 local informal open spaces S106 funding 
from Queen Edith’s ward for landscaping and planting improvements 
on Nightingale Recreation Ground. There are also proposals for 
further S106 funding for footpath improvements there. 

c. In addition, paragraph 2.3 of this current report recommends a 
further allocation of £60,000 of outdoor sports S106 funds to help 
meet the additional costs arising from the sport-related elements of 
the pavilion (which include the new changing rooms). This is in 
addition to the £275,000 of outdoor sports funding already allocated 
and can be afforded from major developments in Queen Edith’s ward 
and/or in South Area more widely. 

 
4.7 Chesterton Rec Ground Pavilion: The existing pavilion is a traditional 

brick-built structure comprising a couple of changing rooms, toilets, an 
officials’ room and a small kitchenette. The project will see an additional 
multi-purpose meeting room and kitchen along with storage for clubs 
and groups equipment being added. A veranda feature attached to the 
meeting room and kitchen will give raised views across the whole 
recreation ground. 

 
4.8 Having secured specific outdoor sports S106 contributions from 

developments in the Chesterton wards for a new sports pavilion at 
Chesterton Recreation Ground, the business case, building control and 
planning permission has been approved and procurement completed for 
a preferred contractor for the project have all been obtained. As these 
tendered costs are £60,000 more than the amount available from these 
S106 contributions and relevant revenue budgets, further S106 now 
needs to be requested. Paragraph 2.1.3 above has already 
recommended £20,000 of community facilities S106 funding towards 

Page 69



 
Report page no. 10 Agenda page no. 

 

 

storage spaces and equipment that can be used by community groups 
who will use the meeting space on a regular basis. The remaining 
£40,000 can be funded from available outdoor sports S106 contributions 
from East and West Chesterton wards, towards the changing rooms and 
other sports-related features of the pavilion. 

 
5.  IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Financial implications: The annual S106 funding rounds are a useful 

way of regularly reviewing, allocating and spending S106 contributions 
received by the Council to mitigate the impact of development. S106 
funds can only be used for the particular contribution types for which 
they have been agreed.  
a. This report has already highlighted that generic S106 funds are 

running down and are not evenly spread. The annual funding rounds 
discourage proposals from those wards in the city where there are 
little or no S106 funds left available.  

b. The project proposals recommended for funding in Section 2 of the 
report are affordable with the remaining S106 funds available.  

c. Meanwhile, officers continue to monitor closely the use of S106 
contributions secured to ensure that they can be used appropriately 
within ten years of receipt or within any expiry date stipulated, 
whichever is sooner. This includes S106 contributions allocated to 
projects which have not progressed as quickly as first envisaged.  

• For example, £255,000 of community facilities S106 contributions 
is still allocated to the East Barnwell Community Centre 
improvement project in Abbey ward, as a grant to the County 
Council. Around £25,000 of these S106 contributions reach ten 
years of receipt milestones during 2023/24. Paragraph 2.5 
recommends that the Executive Councillor instructs officers to 
report back to this committee in June 2021 with an update on 
project progress in the context of on-going dialogue with the 
County Council and the ‘One Public Estate’ initiative in the 
Barnwell area of Abbey ward. 

 
5.2 Staffing implications: Most projects funded from Community Facilities 

S106 contributions tend to be based on grants to community groups and 
local organisations. Council officers are involved in developing business 
cases and community use agreements, before grants can be issued, 

Page 70



 
Report page no. 11 Agenda page no. 

 

 

and then supporting and monitoring the grant recipients’ project delivery 
progress and compliance with grant agreements. Alongside those 
activities, the pavilion projects at Nightingale Avenue and Chesterton 
Rec Grounds are being managed within the Sports & Recreation team. 

 
5.3 Equality and anti-poverty implications: The S106 funding round 

arrangements and selection criteria aim to provide a fair and consistent 
approach for priority-setting decisions. In line with the existing equality 
impact assessment of the arrangements in previous years, officers have 
raised awareness of the 2020 S106 funding round and bidding process 
amongst groups representing the range of equality strands, whilst 
managing expectations about the availability of S106 funds.  

 
5.4 All successful S106 external grant applicants are required to sign a 

community use agreement. This confirms that the facilities being 
improved through a S106-funded project will be made accessible to the 
public and this clearly highlights all the protected characteristics. 

 
5.5 Other implications: Environmental, community safety and procurement 

implications are addressed as part of the business case appraisal for 
projects that are selected via the S106 priority-setting process. 

 
6. CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 The arrangements taken to publicise the funding available and 

application process are detailed in paragraph 3.7. 
 
7.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 

• ‘Availability of community facilities S106 funding by ward’, 
Cambridge City Council, March 2020; 

• S106 project proposals received during the 2020 S106 funding round 
for community facilities S106 contributions; 

• ‘S106 funding: next steps (Communities)’ report to Environment and 
Community Scrutiny Committee on 21st March 2019; 

• ‘S106 community facilities fund round 2018’ report to Environment & 
Community Scrutiny Committee on 28th June 2018; 

Page 71



 
Report page no. 12 Agenda page no. 

 

 

• ‘Strategic review of community provision – Building Stronger 
Communities: community centres strategy’ report to Community 
Services Scrutiny Committee on 19 January 2017; 

• ‘S106 devolved decision-making: 2015/16 priority-setting’ report to 
South Area Committee on 14th December 2015; 

• ‘S106 funding round 2020: play areas and open spaces’ report to 
Planning and Transport Scrutiny Committee on 29 September 2020; 

• Further information can be found at the Council’s Developer 
Contributions web page (www.cambridge.gov.uk/s106). 

 
8.  APPENDICES  

 
Appendix A: Summary of S106 community facilities applications 2020 
Appendix B: Assessment of S106 community facilities applications 
against S106 selection criteria 
 

9.  INSPECTION OF PAPERS 
 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 
Jackie Hanson, Community Funding Development Manager 
(tel: 01223-457867, email: jackie.hanson@cambridge.gov.uk)  
Ian Ross, Sports and Recreation Manager (tel: 01223-458638, email: 
ian.ross@cambridge.gov.uk)  
Tim Wetherfield, Urban Growth Project Manager 
(tel: 01223-457313, email: tim.wetherfield@cambridge.gov.uk)  

 

Page 72

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/s106
mailto:jackie.hanson@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:ian.ross@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:tim.wetherfield@cambridge.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix A: 
Summary of S106 community facilities applications in 2020 S106 funding round 
 
 Project Officer assessment  

a Nightingale Community Garden 
(Queen Edith’s ward) 
Proposed by Nightingale Gardeners. For 
outside covered informal kitchen and activity 
area.  
Overall project costs: £8,950 
Already raised: £300 
S106 funding requested: £8,650 

The new wooden structure (and associated equipment) in 
the community garden would provide external kitchen and 
activity space for the community. The Council has 
previously provided a £15,000 grant for the Nightingale 
Avenue Rec community garden hut. There is sufficient 
S106 funding available from Queen Edith’s for this and 
other 2020 community facility proposals in the ward. 
Recommended S106 funding: 
£8,650 (community facilities) 

b Nightingale Avenue Rec Pavilion 
(Queen Edith’s ward) 
Supplementary bid from the City Council 
relating to multi-purpose community room 
storage, kitchen and equipment within new 
pavilion. 
Overall project costs: £515,000 
Already raised: £425,000 
S106 funding requested: £20,000 (community 
facilities), plus £70,000 other S106 funding. 

The additional £20,000 is on top of the existing £150,000 
community facilities S106 funding for the project already 
allocated. It would help to meet the increasing costs of the 
project overall and would be related to the large 
community meeting space provision. More details about 
the other S106 funding being invested in the new pavilion 
can be found in paragraph 4.6 of the main report. 
Recommended S106 funding: 
£20,000 (community facilities) 

P
age 73



 

 Project Officer assessment  

c Chesterton Rec Ground Pavilion6 
(East Chesterton ward) 
Bid from the City Council. Towards the kitchen 
and storage space and the costs of equipping 
the meeting space within the new pavilion. 
Overall project costs: £260,000 
Already raised: £200,000 
S106 funding requested: 
£20,000 (community facilities) plus £40,000 
(outdoor sports) 

Although local community groups will have access to the 
meeting space within the new sports pavilion, the bulk of 
the project costs are being met from local outdoor sports 
S106 contributions. Use of £20,000 available community 
facilities contributions from East and West Chesterton will 
help to meet the project construction costs (which 
tendered higher than originally envisaged) and the costs 
of equipping the meeting space. For more details of the 
increased outdoor sports contributions recommended for 
this project, see paragraph 4.7 - 4.8 of the report. 
Recommended S106 funding: 
£20,000 (community facilities) 

d Notts Own Scout Hut7 (Romsey ward) 
Proposed by 13th Cambridge Scout Group. For 
kitchen and toilet improvements at their scout 
hut on Marmora Road / Cyprus Road. 
Overall project costs: £45,000 
Already raised: £5,000 
S106 funding requested: £40,000 

This relates to improvements to increase the size and use 
of the facilities and to improve access to the facilities. 
Meets the selection criteria. Given that the scout hut is 
close to the Romsey / Coleridge ward boundary, officers 
are minded to fund this grant using community facilities 
generic S106 contributions from both wards.  
Recommended S106 funding: 
£40,000 (community facilities) 

 
6. Please note: Councillor Bird has commented on all the S106 funding proposals in her ward, “I’m very happy the East 

Chesterton has been considered for the funding for our projects. I know many residents will benefit from them.” 

7. Romsey ward councillors have expressed their support for this proposal. 

P
age 74



 

 Project Officer assessment  

e St James’ Church Hall (Queen Edith’s ward) 
On-going discussions with the church over 
proposals to improve the kitchen, servery, 
seating area, disabled toilet and baby changing 
facilities within the church hall 
Overall project costs: Possibly £550,000, but 
still needs to be clarified. 
Already raised: £0 
S106 funding requested: To be clarified. 

A possible three-phased project is being prepared but is 
not yet ready to be considered. The recommended 
£100,000 provisional allocation would strengthen the 
church’s ability to fund-raise from other external sources, 
whilst it develops its promising proposals in more detail for 
the 2021 round. The Council’s Building Stronger 
Communities Strategy has highlighted the need to 
increase access to community facilities provision in Queen 
Edith’s ward. See also paragraph 4.2. 
Recommended S106 funding: 
Provisional allocation of £100,000 (community facilities) 

f Centre at St Paul’s Church 
(Trumpington ward) 
Double glazing of 20 windows in the main 
(multi-purpose) hall of the church. The church’s 
proposals aims to show the local public that it 
is environmentally alert and encourage further 
community booking of the meeting space by 
making it more comfortable for users.  
Overall project costs: £57,793 
Already raised: £3,013 
S106 funding requested: £27,390 

The Centre is already a well-used community space. The 
Council has previously awarded almost £135,000 of 
community facilities S106 funding for its improvement. 
These latest proposals are not fully focused on mitigating 
the impact of development and providing additional and 
better meeting space to meet increasing needs from a 
growing local population. Beyond its S106 funding 
request, the church still has another £27,390 to raise.  
Given that S106 funding is running down, it would be 
advisable for the Council to seek more effective uses of 
the remaining local developer contributions in the 2021 
S106 funding round next Spring. 

P
age 75



 

 
Report page no. 16 Agenda page no. 

Appendix B 
 

Assessment of S106 community facilities 
applications against S106 selection criteria 
 
 Selection criteria 

 

Eligible 

Affordable 

Effective use 

Additionality 

Accessible 

R
eady 

Viable 

 

 Community facility 
improvement at  Ward 

a Nightingale Ave Rec 
Community Gardens 

Queen 
Edith’s        

b Nightingale Pavilion Queen 
Edith’s        

c Chesterton Pavilion East 
Chesterton        

d Notts Own Scout Hut Romsey        

e St James’ Church Queen 
Edith’s  ?    ? ? 

f St Paul’s Church Centre Trumpington        
 

Page 76


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Principles for a New Climate Change Strategy 2021-2026 and Annual Climate Change Strategy Update Report
	6 General and Sunday Market Trader Covid Impact Business Support Offer
	7 S106 Community Facility Grants 2020
	EAST AREA
	NORTH AREA
	WEST/CENTRAL
	SOUTH AREA


